
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Community Safety, 
Environment and Residents 

Services Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Monday 20 November 2017 
7.00 pm 

Courtyard Room - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Larry Culhane (Chair) 
Councillor Iain Cassidy 
Councillor Sharon Holder 
 

Councillor Charlie Dewhirst 
Councillor Steve Hamilton 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Ainsley Gilbert 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2088 
 E-mail: ainsley.gilbert@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy  
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 
 

Date Issued: 
 

10 November 2017 
 

 
 

www.lbhf.gov.uk/Councillors-and-Democracy


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Community Safety, Environment and 
Residents Services Policy and 

Accountability Committee 
Agenda 

 
20 November 2017 

 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  1 - 6 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 18 September 2017.  

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee. 

 

4.   REPORT OF THE HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM BIODIVERSITY 
COMMISSION  

7 - 57 

5.   HELICOPTER NOISE ISSUES  58 - 69 

6.   LONDON TRADING STANDARDS WEEK  70 - 89 

7.   WORK PROGRAMME AND DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  90 - 92 
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Community Safety, 
Environment and 

Residents Services 
Policy and 

Accountability 
Committee 

Minutes 
 

Monday 18 September 2017 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Larry Culhane (Chair), Iain Cassidy, 
Charlie Dewhirst and Steve Hamilton 
 
Other Councillors: Wesley Harcourt (Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport 
and Residents Services) 
 
Officers: Elizabeth Fonseca (Environmental Quality Manager), Nick Austin 
(Director for Environmental Health), Joyce Golder (Principal Solicitor (Litigation), 
Claire Rai (Head of Community Safety), and Stephen Gibbs (Neighbourhood 
Warden Manager). 
 

 
9. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Holder. 
 

10. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

11. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 28 June 2017 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

12. COUNCIL’S DRAFT AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN CONSULTATION  
 
Elizabeth Fonseca explained that the council was required to adopt a new Air 
Quality Action Plan for 2018-23. There was significant evidence that poor air 
quality was having a negative impact on residents of Hammersmith and 
Fulham; 25% of early deaths in the borough had been attributed to the effects 
of poor air quality.  It was therefore important that the council developed an 
Air Quality Action Plan which would help it to tackle the issue. The Greater 
London Authority (GLA) had developed a framework for Councils across 
London to use when developing their action plans. It was hoped that having a 
more coordinated approach across London would help to increase the impact 
of each borough’s actions.  
 
Maps showing the concentration of nitrogen dioxide pollution and particulate 
matter in the borough were shown, with main roads clearly standing out as 
the principal areas of concentration. Elizabeth Fonseca explained that the 
majority of nitrogen dioxide pollution came from diesel vehicles, whereas 
particulate matter was caused largely by particles from tyre, brake and clutch 
wear and particles being resuspended in the air, although there were also 
many other sources. Unfortunately, there was little that the council could 
realistically do to significantly reduce the impact of pollution from roads, 
national or regional action would need to be taken as most of the traffic in 
Hammersmith and Fulham was passing through rather than being caused by 
residents.  
 
Hammersmith and Fulham’s draft action plan proposed actions in a wide 
range of areas. Air pollution would continue to be monitored closely, the 
council having doubled its nitrogen dioxide monitoring network in 2016. The 
council’s own vehicle fleet and the larger fleets of its contractors would be 
upgraded to less polluting vehicles. Council buildings would also be fitted with 
low-emission boilers as they needed replacement. Greening measures would 
also continue to be introduced on the highway, with some schemes to look at 
reducing the canyon effect which concentrated pollution between tall buildings 
on main roads. Planning controls would be used to ensure that large 
developments did not have a negative impact on air quality. The council 
would also try to persuade people make less polluting choices, for example, 
through discounted parking permits for low emission vehicles, the promotion 
of active travel and anti-idling campaigns.  
 
A resident asked why planning powers were not used to prevent tall buildings 
from being built near to polluted roads, as it was known that this would cause 
a canyon effect. Elizabeth Fonseca explained that each application for 
development was assessed individually and that developers could potentially 
overcome issues of the canyon effect through other design measures. 
Councillor Harcourt said that Hammersmith and Fulham used the limited 
planning powers available to it to good effect, but said that it was difficult to 
prevent developments on air quality grounds.  
 
A resident asked what the impact of the 20mph speed limit was on air quality. 
Elizabeth Fonseca explained that driving at 20mph would typically reduce a 
vehicle’s emissions as traffic flow should be smoother and a consequent 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

reduction in acceleration and braking which caused significant amounts of 
pollution. A resident noted that traffic lights often stopped drivers and asked 
whether these ought not to be retimed to favour cars to prevent pollution from 
idling vehicles and stated that vehicles are forced to idle because shutting 
them off and turning them on again is even worse for the environment. 
Elizabeth Fonseca said that this is not the case with modern cars, some of 
which are fitted with Start/Stop technology.. A resident noted that the needs of 
pedestrians and other road users also needed to be considered. The Chair 
asked whether officers working on air quality cooperated with staff 
responsible for transport and highways. Elizabeth Fonseca confirmed that 
they did work closely together. 
 
A resident asked whether the council planned to take enforcement action 
against those idling on the borough’s roads. Elizabeth Fonseca explained that 
the most effective way to combat idling was to raise awareness through 
campaigns. It was intended that enforcement powers would be used, but it 
was very difficult to take formal action against a driver as legislation required 
that a warning be issued before a fine could be given, and almost all drivers 
would heed the warning and turn off their engine. A resident asked that anti-
idling leaflets be distributed to members of the public so that they could help 
to educate idling drivers, whilst another resident asked that more work be 
done with large venues to prevent taxis, coaches and lorries from idling there. 
Elizabeth Fonseca said that the council’s anti-idling campaign already 
distributed leaflets and worked with venues; she agreed to ensure that more 
was done.  
 
A resident of Ashcroft Square said that he would favour pedestrianisation on 
King Street to reduce pollution; he also complained about noise pollution 
caused by the council’s street cleaning vehicles. Councillor Harcourt said that 
he hoped that electric street cleaning machines would be introduced in the 
next few years and said that this should mean that they were both quieter and 
less polluting than the current sweepers.  
 
A resident asked if pollution from aircraft was covered by the action plan. 
Elizabeth Fonseca said that the main impact of aviation on the borough was 
people travelling to and from Heathrow airport in vehicles mostly on main 
roads through the borough..  
 
A resident asked what could be done to reduce pollution from taxis. Councillor 
Harcourt explained that from 2018 Transport for London (TfL) would require 
that all new taxis were capable of running with zero emissions at the tailpipe; 
this would mean that new taxis would either be electric or be hybrids and so 
nitrogen oxide pollution from taxis would drop significantly. There were also to 
be two low emission bus corridors running into the borough along the A4020 
and the A315. Elizabeth Fonseca explained that the council also lobbied TfL 
to try to persuade them to do more. 
 
A resident asked whether the queuing of buses at Hammersmith Bridge was 
permanent. Councillor Harcourt explained that the current system would only 
operate until major repairs had been completed. These were likely to start in 
the summer of 2018 and were expected to last around 12 months; the council 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

would push TfL to try to ensure that the closure period was kept to a 
minimum. Councillor Harcourt also explained that TfL were being asked to 
stagger departures from Hammersmith Bus Station to prevent queuing at the 
bridge. 
 
A resident asked whether a diesel scrappage scheme would be developed. 
Elizabeth Fonseca explained that such a scheme would need to be set up by 
the government; so far they had been unwilling to commit to this action in 
their recent revised strategy to improve air quality which focussed other than 
to ask councils to do so. 
 

13. RIPA AND CCTV UPDATE  
 
Joyce Golder explained that the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
(RIPA) controlled the council’s use of covert CCTV. Between June 2016 - 
August 2017 covert surveillance had been used on 12 occasions to identify 
the perpetrators of anti-social behaviour and drug dealing. In January 2017 
the Office of Surveillance Commissioners inspected the council’s use of 
RIPA. The report had generally been very positive; 6 recommendations for 
minor improvements were made as detailed in the report. 
 
A resident said that they wanted more CCTV cameras to be installed on 
estates to help to tackle anti-social behaviour and rough sleeping in 
communal areas. The Chair noted that there was a programme of expansion 
of the CCTV network on housing estates and said that the council recognised 
their value. Joyce Golder said that the council’s use of CCTV had been 
commended many times and that 543 arrests had been made as a direct 
result of the CCTV service’s work.  
 
The Chair asked whether the existing RIPA procedures made it difficult for 
officers to deploy covert CCTV. Joyce Golder said that the procedures 
worked well within RIPA, however, there would be a change to the regulatory 
framework as the provisions of the Investigatory Powers Act 2016 came into 
force, which might make covert surveillance easier to organise. 
 
A resident asked whether the council ran a CCTV service for other 
organisations. Claire Rai explained that the council’s CCTV service only ran 
public space CCTV cameras. It worked with Hammersmith BID to prevent 
crime in Hammersmith Broadway and also had a link to Westfield’s CCTV 
network. CCTV networks in council buildings, schools and at other sites were 
run by the managers of those buildings.  
 
A resident asked how long CCTV footage was retained. Claire Rai explained 
that CCTV was kept for 30 days, although if requested by the police, it could 
be kept for longer.  
 
A resident asked whether CCTV could be used to take enforcement action 
against those who were fly-tipping. Councillor Culhane explained that CCTV 
was used to prove the identities of those fly tipping and that the council often 
forced individuals and companies to pay the council for the cost of 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

investigation and clearing their dumped waste. The council had appointed a 
Street Tsar to reduce fly-tipping through the use of CCTV.  
 
Councillor Dewhirst asked whether there were plans to extend the CCTV 
network to the Western End of King Street. Clair Rai agreed to look into the 
issue and report back to Councillor Dewhirst.  
 
Councillor Cassidy asked how good the council was at getting access to 
footage from other organisations CCTV networks. Claire Rai explained that it 
depended on the organisation; some partners such as Westfield were very 
helpful whereas other premises might be more reluctant to share their 
footage.  
 

14. NEIGHBOURHOOD WARDENS SERVICE  
 
Claire Rai introduced the report, saying that the Neighbourhood Wardens 
Service consisted of 13 officers who patrolled the borough’s streets and 
estates. The service had been formed when the Shepherds Bush Street 
Wardens and the Estate Wardens Services had merged.  
 
The Neighbourhood Wardens provided a wide range of services, including: 

- Tackling Anti-Social Behaviour both through intervention and by 
passing information to housing officers so that tenancy action could be 
taken where the perpetrators were council tenants. 

- Stopping Begging and Street Drinking by providing support for those 
on the streets and by taking enforcement action where necessary. 

- Providing Reassurance through high visibility patrols and home visits 
to residents. 

- Helping to keep the borough clean by issuing fines to those littering or 
failing to clear up after their dogs. 

- Engaging with residents and helping with their problems; the team 
regularly attended community events to talk to residents and also gave 
fraud prevention advice to older residents. 

- Doing joint work with the police, including carrying out weapons 
sweeps across housing estates. Intelligence was also regularly 
provided to both the police and other council services.  

- Helping with major incidents by being available to do what was 
needed. The team carried out a range of roles in an emergency, from 
acting as the Local Authority Liaison Officer to manning cordons and 
helping to direct the public. The team had attended the terrorist attack 
at Parson’s Green on Friday 15 September. 

 
A resident asked how the service could be contacted and whether they would 
attend all incidents. Stephen Gibbs said that the Neighbourhood Wardens 
operated from 8am -11pm Monday to Saturday and 10am-10pm on Sundays. 
The service could be called on 020 8753 2645 and where possible the team 
would visit a resident on the same day as their call; if this proved impossible 
officers would contact the resident to discuss the issue with them over the 
phone. 
 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

A resident asked how the team helped rough sleepers if they only worked 
until 11pm. Stephen Gibbs explained that monthly patrols were run at 3am, 
along with St Mungos who provided support to those sleeping on the streets.  
 
A resident asked how many fixed penalty notices had been issued for littering. 
Stephen Gibbs explained that the vast majority of the 72 fixed penalty notices 
issued between January and July 2017 were for littering whilst in 2016 120 
fixed penalty notices had been issued. The council’s street scene 
enforcement officers were noted to issue far more of these notices as that 
was one of their primary roles, whereas Neighbourhood Wardens carried out 
enforcement alongside a wide range of other duties. The resident explained 
that he had previously asked that the council look at ways to carry out more 
littering enforcement as he did not feel that residents were getting the 
message. Councillor Harcourt agreed to provide the resident with a response 
to his suggestions about increased enforcement. 
 
A resident asked whether the service would be affected by the changes to 
shared service arrangements. Claire Rai explained that it wouldn’t be as 
neither the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea nor Westminster City 
Council had a Street Wardens service. Councillors were pleased that the 
borough had been able to retain its service as it was very useful for residents. 
 
The Chair asked where officers working in the service were recruited from. 
Stephen Gibbs explained that staff were from a wide range of backgrounds, 
with some from enforcement, some from customer service roles and some 
ex-police officers; the key to being successful in the role was being 
approachable and being able to communicate well with the public.  
 
A resident asked whether the service dealt with fly-tipping on estates. 
Stephen Gibbs explained that the service would report fly-tipping to housing 
officers and Mitie to arrange its removal. Where rubbish was considered to be 
a fire risk they would arrange removal immediately.  
 

15. WORK PROGRAMME AND DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
The work programme was noted. 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 8.45 pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 

Contact officer: Ainsley Gilbert 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2088 
 E-mail: ainsley.gilbert@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 6



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT AND 
RESIDENTS’ SERVICES POLICY & 

ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 
 

20 November 2017 
 

 

REPORT OF THE HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM BIODIVERSITY COMMISSION 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Residents’ 
Services, Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For review and comment 
Key Decision: No 
 

Consultation: 
The Biodiversity Commission has consulted with council officers, residents and 
organisations in Hammersmith & Fulham throughout the process of developing and 
drafting this report. 
 

Wards Affected:  
All 
 

Accountable Director: Sarah Thomas, Director of Delivery and Value 
 

Report Author: 
Peter Smith, Head of Policy & Strategy 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2206 
peter.smith@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. Biodiversity is a vital aspect of living healthy lives. LBHF aims to be the 

greenest borough in London and putting biodiversity at the heart of council 
policy is fundamental to this, as it reconnects us all to nature.  The H&F 
Biodiversity Commission was launched in January 2017 and completed its 
work in October 2017. 

 
1.2. The Commission’s work has included a literature review, an evidence 

gathering exercise and a survey of borough residents.  Specialist council 
officers and external experts in the field were called to give evidence to the 
Commission on planning policy and practice, estate management, the variety 
of trees across the Borough, flood risk management, parks and open spaces 
and other environmental matters affecting biodiversity.   
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



1.3. The Commission’s recommendations are intended to establish the primary 
importance of biodiversity in making Hammersmith & Fulham a thriving 
community in which people and wildlife flourish and our surroundings are 
enhanced, making it a beautiful place to be.   The recommendations are 
aimed at the Council and local businesses, the Mayor of London and regional 
bodies, as well as national bodies, including the NHS and the Government, as 
all have a role to play in protecting and enhancing biodiversity and its place in 
a sustainable UK future. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. The PAC is invited to discuss the findings and recommendations of the Report 
of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission at Appendix 1 and 
should it see fit make suggestions, including on implementing the 
recommendations, for the Council to consider in its response. 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1. The report has been drafted by the Biodiversity Commission, not by council 
officers.  They are presented here for consideration and discussion. 
 

4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  
 

4.1. The PAC is requested to consider and discuss the report’s recommendations, 
particularly those aimed at the Council, and to refer its comments on to 
Cabinet. 

 
5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

 
5.1. The Biodiversity Commission is the seventh H&F resident-led commission to 

report to a PAC on its findings and recommendations. Since 2015, the Council 
has received reports from: the Commission on Airport Expansion; the 
Commission on Council Housing; the Air Quality Commission, the Business 
Commission, the Poverty and Worklessness Commission and the Disabled 
People’s Commission.  A further commission - the Rough Sleeping 
Commission - is also at the final report stage of its work.  A ninth commission 
– the Older People’s Commission – held its inaugural meeting earlier this 
month. 

 
5.2. These commissions demonstrate the Council’s commitment to “Working with 

residents to get things done”.  The commissions are an example of how the 
Council is engaged with residents in the co-production of council policies. 
 

5.3. The Biodiversity Commission has engaged with council officers from across 
service areas to help inform and shape its recommendations.  It has also 
gathered evidence from experts in the field and via a survey of borough 
residents.  The PAC is asked to consider and discuss the DPC’s 
recommendations. 
 
 

Page 8



6. CONSULTATION 
 

6.1. The Commission has been engaged in consultation with borough residents, 
environmental organisations, council staff and councillors throughout the year, 
as it has gathered evidence to inform this final report. 
 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1. The implementation of these recommendations will have no equality 
implications.  
 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1. The attached report is that of an independent resident-led Commission and 
there are no legal implications for the Council in considering the Commission’s 
findings and recommendations. If, in due course, the Council proposes to 
adopt the Commission’s recommendations, the legal implications of those 
proposals will be considered at that time.  
 
Implications completed by Rhian Davies, Chief Solicitor (Litigation and Social 
Care) 020 7641 2729 

 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1. At this point there are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  

If, in due course, the Council decides to adopt the Commission’s 
recommendations, then any financial implications will need to be evaluated 
and considered as part of the Council’s financial planning process. 

 
Implications completed by: Andrew Lord, Head of Strategic Planning and 
Monitoring, tel. 020 8753 2531. 

 
 

10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 

 
 

10.1. Implitions completed by: Albena Karameros, Economic Development Team, 
tel. 020 7938 8583. 

 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 
None 

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1: Report of the H&F Biodiversity Commission 

Page 9



©
 d

es
ig

ne
d 

an
d 

pr
od

uc
ed

 b
y 

H
am

m
er

sm
it

h 
&

 F
ul

ha
m

 C
ou

nc
il.

 0
20

 8
75

3 
17

6
4.

 
Pr

in
te

d 
by

 H
am

m
er

pr
in

t.
 T

el
: 0

20
 8

75
3 

22
35

. 2
01

7.
 2

60
.7

9.

Report of the  
Hammersmith & Fulham  
Biodiversity Commission
November 2017

Page 10



Page 11



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 3

Foreword 4

Executive Summary and 
Key Recommendations 5

Main Report

1 Introduction 9
1.1 What is biodiversity and why is it 

important?
1.2 Threats to biodiversity
1.3 Consequences of biodiversity decline
1.4 Biodiversity in Hammersmith & Fulham

2 Planning Policy and Practice  12
2.1 The London Plan
2.2 The Local Plan
Recommendations

3 Greening Policy and Practice 16
3.1 Parks, open spaces and their 

interconnections
3.2 Gardens
3.3 Industrial and housing estates
3.4 Green and blue corridors
3.5 Habitats for wildlife
Recommendations

4 Putting People at the 
 Heart of Biodiversity 24

4.1 An ecoloogy centre and ecology officer
4.2 Greenfest
4.3 Schools
4.4 Families and informal learning
4.5  Community groups and individuals
4.6  Tenants’ and residents’ associations  

and estates
4.7  Businesses
4.8  Hospitals and GP health centres
4.9  Responses to H&F biodiversity survey
Recommendations

Appendix A: The Commissioners 28

Appendix B: References: Key Reports 
and Literature Reviewed   29

Appendix C: Summary of Written 
Evidence Submissions Received  31

Appendix D: Extract from the 
Hammersmith Society’s Response to the 
Old Oak and Park Royal Development
Corporation Consultation 35

Appendix E: Analysis of 
Survey Returns 37

Contents

Page 12



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 20174

“We, after all, are the architects of the 
urban world… The ingenuity with which 
we continue to reshape the surface of 
our planet is very startling…..It’s also 
sobering…. It reminds me just how easy 
it is for us to lose our connection with 
the natural world. It’s on this connection 
that the future of both humanity and the 
natural world depends….Surely it’s our 
responsibility to do everything within our 
power to create a planet that provides 
a home not just for us but for all life on 
earth.”
David Attenborough, Planet Earth I

The actions of human beings have become 
so influential on the wellbeing of all life on 
earth that scientists have named this as the 
Anthropocene age (‘anthropos’ is Greek for 
human being). A crucial factor in the resilience 
of all life on earth is biodiversity. This is especially 
true now that extreme climate events are 
becoming more frequent. 

The Biodiversity Commission was set up because 
of the need to provide more and better habitats 
for wildlife in the Borough and London-wide. We 
need more joined up space for nature to flourish. 
This is challenging in the current economic 
climate, but we fail to do so at our peril.

We are hoping that when our report is acted on 
there will be more opportunities in the Borough 
to enjoy green spaces which are rich in wildlife. 
We will see more bees, butterflies and hoverflies, 
more birds and bats, maybe an occasional 
hedgehog. Children will be more likely to find a 
range of “minibeasts” and wild flowers. All this 
has big implications for our health and wellbeing 
and, we hope, will increase our awareness of the 
importance of looking after nature now and in 
the future.

The Commissioners are all local residents and 
we hope it will be possible to engage more 
volunteers to help enhance our green spaces, 
and more children with opportunities to explore 
the wildlife and their habitats. At the same time, 
we hope to influence planning policies so that all 
stakeholders are working together to enrich the 
biodiversity of the Borough.

The Commission was launched in January 2017 
and completed its work in October 2017. It 
was established to follow up a report on H&F’s 
current biodiversity, presented to Council in 
November 2016 by Richard Buckley. 

The work has included a literature review (see 
Appendix B) and an evidence gathering exercise. 
Specialist council officers and external experts 
in the field were called to give evidence to the 
Commission on planning policy and practice, 
estate management, the variety of trees across 
the Borough, flood risk management, parks and 
open spaces and other environmental matters 
affecting biodiversity. A summary of responses 
to a request for written evidence is attached as 
Appendix C. The results of the biodiversity survey 
which the Commission circulated to residents of 
the Borough, and which has helped to form our 
recommendations, is attached as Appendix D.

Morag Carmichael 
Chair, H&F Biodiversity Commission

Foreword 

Page 13



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 5

Biodiversity is a vital aspect of living healthy lives. 
LBHF aims to be the greenest borough in London 
and putting biodiversity at the heart of council 
policy is fundamental to this, as it reconnects 
us all to nature. In this report we describe what 
biodiversity is, and show how it contributes value 
in economic and environmental terms and should 
be seen as a primary way of promoting a healthy 
community. 

This is demonstrated by examples and reference 
to research and development in other places with 
current Government policy described in a series 
of POSTnotes (from the Parliamentary Office 
of Science and Technology) within their green 
infrastructure programme, in which biodiversity is 
a primary ingredient. 

Our recommendations are intended to establish 
the primary importance of biodiversity in 
making Hammersmith & Fulham a thriving 
community in which people and wildlife flourish 
and our surroundings are enhanced, making it 
a beautiful place to be. As well as the Council, 
our recommendations will be communicated 
to the Mayor of London and national bodies, 
including the NHS and the Government, as all 
have published intentions and some policies 
about biodiversity and its place in a sustainable 
UK future.

Key Recommendations

For action by Government and 
national bodies

1. Tenets of EU Environmental legislation to 
be maintained undiluted post Brexit, in 
particular those of the Bird and Habitat 
Directives and the Natura 2000 ecological 
network of protected areas this legislation 
supports.

2. The Government to extend the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act to enable designated 
green areas (including private gardens) to 
be established in inner city areas to enhance 
biodiversity, or to create new legislation 
specifically for this purpose. 

3. The NHS to ensure that every hospital or 
health centre is a pleasant place to visit 
with green space, trees and flowers for 
pollinators and/or a food garden as a 
teaching tool for nutrition.

Executive Summary

Page 14



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 20176

For action by the GLA, regional 
bodies, the OPDC and the 
Corporation of London
1. The Mayor of London is urged to progress 

his proposal to make London a National 
City Park.

2. Herbicides and pesticides to be banned in 
all public spaces and, where exceptions are 
necessary to control invasive species such 
as Japanese knotweed, glyphosate based 
pesticides to be used only on a cut-and-
paste basis. 

3. Artificial grass/Astroturf to be banned in 
public green spaces other than for use to 
replace existing asphalt sports surfaces, 
with the possible exception for use on 
cricket pitches, between the wickets, and in 
small children’s play areas.

4. Efforts to be made to reduce hard standing 
footprints of sports grounds in parks and 
commons.

5. Assurances should be given by the Old Oak 
and Park Royal Development Corporation 
(OPDC) that the biodiversity of Wormwood 
Scrubs will be maintained throughout the 
development of the Old Oak and Park Royal 
site. Specifically, points of access and the 
use of the common should be managed to 
protect the wildlife. 

6. Proper consideration must be given to the 
biodiversity value of Wormwood Scrubs, 
Mitre yard and North Kensington Gate, 
and especially to those parts which are 
designated as a Local Nature Reserve. In 
particular this means:
(a) Keeping the area “more wild than 

tamed”, and consulting all the wildlife 
surveys of the site, including that of 
Leanne Brisland in 2015 and that of the 
London Wildlife Trust in 2016 before 
commencing any development close to 
the green spaces.

(b) Ensuring that new high-rise buildings are 
sited well away from the perimeter of 
the site, because of light pollution.

(c)  Not allowing new access to the 

site anywhere near the Local Nature 
Reserve. We also recommend that 
an alternative plan should be found 
to the proposed sewer realignment 
as part of HS2 works because of 
the heavy impact it would have in a 
sensitive area.

(d) Providing green spaces in the new 
developments to prevent over-use 
of Wormwood Scrubs by the greatly 
increased numbers of local residents. 

(e) Rigorous assessment of the probable 
impact on wildlife, before any decision 
is taken to move QPR to the Linford 
Christie site.

(f) The railway embankment to the north of 
the Scrubs is a major site for biodiversity 
and should be retained.  It has a very 
high boundary permeability into the 
Scrubs and so enhances to ecological 
value of the local nature reserve areas 
adjacent to it.

For action by the Council

1. For the Council to appoint a permanent 
Ecology Officer and establish an Ecology 
Centre in or near one of the parks in the 
Borough. The Ecology Officer’s role would 
be to ensure that ecology and biodiversity 
are given proper consideration in every 
aspect of Council policy and to set up and 
run an attractive Ecology Centre which 
would provide a focus for the public to 
become more interested in nature and 
biodiversity. This could be done with the 
help of assistants and volunteers. Part of 
the Ecology Officer’s role would be to act 
as volunteer co-ordinator which would 
involve organising greening projects around 
the Borough, training and recruiting 
volunteers. 

2. With the ecology officer in the lead, 
promote and encourage volunteering 
initiatives for environmental improvement 
in the Borough’s parks and green spaces. 
This could involve Friends of Parks groups, 
Residents’ and Tenants’ Associations, 

Page 15



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 7

existing volunteer groups and organisations 
and local businesses, as well as individuals 
of all ages who would benefit from contact 
with nature and a sense of purpose.

3. Promote and encourage volunteering 
initiatives for local biodiversity, e.g. 
Friends Groups, volunteers and Residents 
Associations to enable them to galvanize, 
fundraise and make environmental 
improvements.

4. Planning policies to be made clearer and 
more robust to ensure the footprints 
of existing valuable green spaces are 
maintained and that suitable/adequate 
green space accompanies all new 
developments. (See pp 13-14)

5. Suitable streets or sections of them to be 
closed where schools are located opposite 
public parks and converted to natural 
habitats. This could be done in conjunction 
with sustainable drainage system (SuDS) 
schemes.

6. The Council to take a more active role in 
preventing building development in gardens 
and in promoting diversity within gardens.

7. Significant weight should be given to the 
biodiversity aspect of trees in all planting 
situations. This means, for example, more 
oaks, willows, silver birches, pink/white 
hawthorn, rowan and alders and fewer 
exotic trees or double-flowered cherries in 
future planting.

8. Hedges in all planting situations to include a 
greater variety of native species.

9. All parks, commons and cemeteries to 
support “wild” areas, where possible 
including ponds and wild flower meadows 
to promote biodiversity - with improved 
signage to increase understanding and 
public acceptance.

10. Parks and other public spaces to be re-
vegetated to compensate for the loss of 
vegetation caused by over-pruning, disease, 
vandalism and old age.

11. Large expanses of asphalt in parks/
commons, such as the area near the Effie 
Road entrance of Eel Brook Common, to be 
replaced with lawn, shrubs or wild flower 

meadows.
12. Enshrine good practice protocols within 

grounds maintenance for streets and open 
spaces – pruning, mulching, peat-free, 
mowing, for example, no mowing under 
tree canopies, pruning of shrubs limited to 
50% of the shrub cover in any one year and 
any pruning not to be severe, and 1 in 3 
street trees at a time (as recommended in 
the Air Quality Commission report).

13. Herbicides and pesticides to be banned in 
all public spaces and where exceptions are 
necessary to control invasive species such 
as Japanese knotweed, glyphosate based 
pesticides to be used only on a cut-and-
paste basis.

14. Artificial grass/Astroturf to be banned in 
public green spaces other than for use to 
replace existing asphalt sports surfaces, 
with the possible exception for use on 
cricket pitches, between the wickets, and in 
small children’s play areas. 

15. Efforts to be made to reduce hard standing 
footprints of sports grounds in parks and 
commons.

16. The Council to access a brochure on 
planting for biodiversity including 
pollinators to be published on its website 
and sent to all householders with their 
council tax bills.

17. The Council to promote a scheme to green 
gardens called “From Grey to Green” and 
to sponsor an annual award for the best 
transformation.

18. The Council to ensure the Biodiversity 
Commission’s recommendations are 
incorporated in the work towards the re-
tendering of a new Grounds Maintenance 
contract in 2021, and that biodiversity is 
a key deliverable with clear targets in this 
contract. This should involve basic training 
for the workers on maintenance techniques 
for gardening for wildlife.

19. The railway embankment to the north of 
the Scrubs is a major site for biodiversity 
and should be retained.  It has a very high 
boundary permeability into the Scrubs and 
so enhances to ecological value of the local 

Page 16



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 20178

nature reserve areas adjacent to it.
20. To sponsor the revival of Greenfest as an 

annual event.
21. To facilitate the expansion of outdoor 

education about nature with schools in 
the Borough. Also to enable Hammersmith 
Community Gardens Association to expand 
its work or a sister organisation to be 
formed which would enable more families 
to access informal outdoor learning in our 
parks and green spaces. We would like 
biodiversity to be given a higher profile 
in local schools and for publicity to be 
provided to highlight how well the topic fits 
into the national curriculum’s requirements. 
The Ecology Officer would be well-placed 
to assist with delivering and expanding on 
outdoor education and advising schools 
on how to improve biodiversity within the 
school grounds.

22. The proposed Ecology Officer and Centre 
would also increase the opportunities for 
informal learning, both at the centre and 
as outreach, delivering events and activities 
in other areas or educating, training and 
empowering others to do so.  We would 
like this kind of work to be expanded, so 
that every family in the Borough could 
easily access one of these schemes, without 
needing a car to reach it. In addition to 
engaging the children, their parents are 
likely to become more interested in nature 
and biodiversity.  

23. To eventually extend the excellent work it 
has done to make some housing estates 
more wildlife–friendly to all the housing 
estates in the Borough. The Ecology Officer, 
as stated more fully in 4.5 above, would be 
well-placed to provide support for these 
groups to pro-actively improve their own 
neighbourhood.

24. To continue to work on improving air 
quality in the Borough, as this is also 
essential to supporting the growth of 
biodiversity, is important to many people, 
above all in preventing the early deaths of 
203 residents per year.

25. To encourage businesses to provide 
green spaces and trees on their sites with 
examples of best practice and its benefits to 
improve the health and wellbeing of their 
employees and consequently the efficiency 
of the business.

26. To maintain and ultimately increase the 
number of Green Flag parks in the borough 
which include biodiversity and community 
participation among their criteria.

For action by businesses

1. Many businesses now engage in Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR) to give back to 
the community and environment in which 
they are based.  If an employee spent 
1% of their working year on CSR, this 
would equate to approximately 2 working 
days per year.  We would urge local 
businesses, in particular medium and large 
businesses (>200 employees) to commit 
to a minimum of one environmental 
improvement action day, for 25% of 
employees, per year in the borough.  The 
Ecology Officer, would be well-placed to 
provide support for facilitating CSR days 
by providing links for businesses to the 
relevant local organisations, community 
groups, individuals, Tenants and Residents 
Associations to help them deliver these 
environmental improvements. 

Page 17



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 9

1.1 What is biodiversity and why is it 
important?

Biodiversity – or biological diversity – means the 
variety of life on earth. It refers to all the living 
organisms and ecosystems that have evolved over 
three billion years, from the tiniest living cell to 
plants, animals, their habitats and their genes. 
Living things form an interdependent ecosystem 
and our survival depends on this biological 
diversity.

Biodiversity is the foundation of life on earth. It is 
crucial for the functioning of ecosystems which 
give us the products and services without which 
we couldn’t live. Oxygen, food, fresh water, 
fertile soil, medicines, shelter, protection from 
storms and floods, stable climate and recreation 
- all have their source in nature and healthy 
ecosystems. 

Biodiversity is extremely complex, dynamic 
and varied like no other feature of the earth. 
Its innumerable plants, animals and microbes 
physically and chemically unite the atmosphere 
(the mixture of gases around the earth), 
geosphere (the solid part of the earth) and 
hydrosphere (the earth’s water, ice and water 
vapour) into one environmental system which 
makes it possible for millions of species, including 
people, to exist. This complex web allows 
ecosystems to act as carbon sinks and adjust to 
disturbances like extreme fires and floods.

“Biodiversity is the backbone of life on 
earth” 
“Its how the planet continues to live”
Respondent to the H&F Biodiversity Survey, 2017

Through biodiversity, we may live healthy and 
happy lives. Huge numbers of plants give us 
oxygen to breathe and a vast array of foods 
and materials. Without a diversity of pollinators, 
plants and soils, our supermarkets would have far 
less produce. Parks, woodlands and allotments 
provide habitat for wildlife, beauty to lift our 
spirits and invisible support for our immunity 
through plants’ airborne microbes and volatile 
oils.

In 2014 the Food and Agriculture Organisation 
of the United Nations reported that, of about 
100,000 edible plant species, just three (maize, 
wheat and rice) supply the bulk of humans’ 
protein and energy needs, with 95% of the 
world’s food energy needs being supplied 
by just 30 plant species. This is contributing 
drastically to reduced use and eventual loss. 
We need wild foods for their richer nutrients, 
microbiota and medicinal value.

Promotion of Underutilised Indigenous Food 
Resources for Food Security and Nutrition in 
Asia and the Pacific (FAO 2014) http://www.
fao.org/3/a-i3685e.pdf

Ecosystems are a vital part of the urban green 
infrastructure providing drainage and pollution 
control, and contribute greatly to our economy, 
but the economic value of wetlands absorbing 
chemicals from water, microbes transforming 
waste into usable products, trees and plants 
cleaning the air, or green spaces reducing 
healthcare costs is often ignored in policy 
development.

Genetic diversity prevents diseases and helps 
species adjust to changes in their environment. 
Many medical discoveries, to cure diseases and 
lengthen life spans, were made through research 
into plant and animal biology and genetics. 

1. Introduction

Page 18



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201710

Every time a species becomes extinct or genetic 
diversity is lost, we lose the potential source of a 
new vaccine, drug or plant medicine. 

No other feature of the earth has been so 
dramatically influenced by man’s activities. By 
reducing biodiversity, we strongly affect human 
wellbeing and the wellbeing of every other living 
creature. 

Refs https://www.nwf.org/Wildlife/Wildlife-
Conservation/Biodiversity.aspx

https://www.biodiversitywales.org.uk/What-is-
Biodiversity- 

The Importance of Green Space 
Only half of people in England live within 300 
metres of green space and the amount of 
green space available is expected to decrease 
as urban infrastructure expands. The health 
benefits of green spaces include:

• spaces for physical activity to offset 
illnesses associated with sedentary 
urban lifestyles, which are an increasing 
economic and social cost;

• better mental and physical health;
• the risk of mortality caused by 

cardiovascular disease is lower in 
residential areas that have higher levels of 
‘greenness’;

• there is evidence that exposure to nature 
could be used as part of the treatment 
for some conditions;

• crime tends to be less in green space 
areas;

• people tend to feel less lonely when 
living near green space.1

There are challenges to providing green spaces in 
urban areas, such as the increasing competition 
for space to establish parks and how to fund 
both their creation and maintenance. Biodiversity 
within the green infrastructure setting gives good 
value since the effects on health can decrease 
NHS costs. 1 

1 POSTnote 538 2016

The Economic Value of Biodiversity 
Edinburgh City Council found that for 
every £1 invested it returned £12 in social, 
environmental and economic benefits.2

See also The Economics of Ecosystems and 
Biodiversity: http://www.teebweb.org 2

There are challenges to providing green spaces in 
urban areas, such as the increasing competition 
for space to establish parks and how to fund 
both their creation and maintenance. Biodiversity 
within the green infrastructure setting gives good 
value since the effects on health can decrease 
NHS costs.

1.2 Threats to biodiversity 

Extinction is a natural part of life. Most of the 
species that ever existed gradually went extinct 
because of natural shifts in the environment over 
long periods of time, such as ice ages. But today, 
species are going extinct at a dangerously fast 
rate, largely due to non-natural environmental 
changes caused by human activity, particularly 
our economic and population growth. Every 
species lost means that biodiversity is weakened, 
including:

• habitat loss/ degradation, e.g. nectar for 
bees, caterpillars for blue tits;

• over exploitation, such as overfishing;
• spread of non-native species and diseases;
• climate change;
• pollution and pesticides.

Extinction Today  
(State of Nature UK report 2016)

https://www.nwf.org/Wildlife/Threats-to-
Wildlife/Disease.aspx

http://www.globalissues.org/article/171/loss-of-
biodiversity-and-extinctions

1.3 Consequences of biodiversity 
decline

No one knows the result of this extremely rapid 
extinction rate, although the impact on processes 
such as crop pollination is well documented. The 
ecosystem has been kept in balance through 
complex interaction between a huge number 

2 Green Infrastructure by John Dover 2015 Page 19



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 11

of species. This rapid extinction may, therefore, 
precipitate global collapses of ecosystems like 
agriculture, threatening food supplies to 
hundreds of millions of people. This ecological 
prediction does not include the effects of global 
warming which will further aggravate the 
situation, reducing the planet’s resilience to fires, 
floods and other natural disasters.

“If we don’t do this, the web of life 
collapses”
Respondent to the H&F Biodiversity Survey, 2017

1.4 Biodiversity in Hammersmith  
& Fulham 

As a densely urbanised inner London borough, 
little remains of Hammersmith and Fulham’s 
original natural ecosystem complexes. Despite 
this, many quality wildlife habitats exist along the 
Borough’s waterways and rail tracks and within 
its parks, cemeteries and community gardens 
where these are not over-manicured. Wormwood 
Scrubs is our largest green space and the River 
Thames and the Grand Union Canal also form 
two important ‘blue’ wildlife corridors.

A total of 225 hectares of green space was 
identified in the Borough, which constitutes 14% 
of its surface. More than 60% of green space 
(150 hectares) comprises formal parkland, sports 
pitches, and amenity grassland. The rest is mainly 
grassland (30 hectares) and herbaceous 
communities (18 hectares). Only around six 
hectares of native woodland remains in the entire 
Borough. An up to date study is required to 
inform future policy.

“If we lose what little biodiversity H&F has 
left it will be lost to future generations for 
ever”
Respondent to the H&F Biodiversity Survey, 2017

The Borough’s housing estates have a mix of 
both hard and soft external surfaces. The large 
and small estates contain some 4,000 trees of 
varied species. There is potential to improve local 
biodiversity, surface water management, and 
air quality through improvements to both the 
ground level surfaces, and to the footprint of 
45,000sqm of flat roofed buildings managed by 
the Council. 

The Borough’s streets are lined with 
approximately 9,000 trees. The traditional 
species, like London planes and limes - a legacy 
from the first wave of planting in the late 
19th century and early 20th century - account 
for some 2,000 trees. The remaining 7,000 
are comprised, predominately, of the smaller 
ornamental species such as cherry blossom, 
rowan, pear and whitebeam trees. 

The larger species, chosen for their ability to 
tolerate the heavily polluted air from industry and 
coal fires and regular pollarding, now make the 
largest contribution to canopy cover. This cover 
is an important factor in mitigating the effect of 
urban heat islands and extreme rainfall events. 

Best Practice example: Ealing Council, 
Winner London in Bloom’s 2017 Biodiversity 
Discretionary  Award 2017

Some of Ealing’s key achievements in 2016-17

• New meadows created on 100,000m2 
of open space in 2016-17, with a further 
200,000m2 planned for 2017-18

• 760,000 bulbs planted
• Creation of four new orchards
• Completed four ‘grey to green’ projects
• Created four new swales in parks with 

drainage issues
• Three roundabouts cleared of over-

mature shrub beds and seeded with 
meadow plants

• 250 bird boxes and 153 bat boxes 
installed in parks and conservation areas

• 20,000 trees planted in parks and open 
spaces, in partnership with Trees for 
Cities 

• Over 2km in native hedgerows planted 
since 2013

The Economic Value of Biodiversity 
Edinburgh City Council found that for 
every £1 invested it returned £12 in social, 
environmental and economic benefits.2

See also The Economics of Ecosystems and 
Biodiversity: http://www.teebweb.org 2

There are challenges to providing green spaces in 
urban areas, such as the increasing competition 
for space to establish parks and how to fund 
both their creation and maintenance. Biodiversity 
within the green infrastructure setting gives good 
value since the effects on health can decrease 
NHS costs.

1.2 Threats to biodiversity 

Extinction is a natural part of life. Most of the 
species that ever existed gradually went extinct 
because of natural shifts in the environment over 
long periods of time, such as ice ages. But today, 
species are going extinct at a dangerously fast 
rate, largely due to non-natural environmental 
changes caused by human activity, particularly 
our economic and population growth. Every 
species lost means that biodiversity is weakened, 
including:

• habitat loss/ degradation, e.g. nectar for 
bees, caterpillars for blue tits;

• over exploitation, such as overfishing;
• spread of non-native species and diseases;
• climate change;
• pollution and pesticides.

Extinction Today  
(State of Nature UK report 2016)

https://www.nwf.org/Wildlife/Threats-to-
Wildlife/Disease.aspx

http://www.globalissues.org/article/171/loss-of-
biodiversity-and-extinctions

1.3 Consequences of biodiversity 
decline

No one knows the result of this extremely rapid 
extinction rate, although the impact on processes 
such as crop pollination is well documented. The 
ecosystem has been kept in balance through 
complex interaction between a huge number 

2 Green Infrastructure by John Dover 2015 Page 20



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201712

The Commission recognises the need to raise 
awareness of biodiversity among decision-
makers, strategic planners, development planners 
and developers. There needs to be a unity of 
purpose to enhance and maintain biodiversity in 
the capital in keeping with the Mayor of London’s 
aims and also the aspirations of Government 
as set out in their various POSTnotes. Local 
authorities are, by law (section 40 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006), 
responsible for conserving biodiversity, which 
includes restoring or enhancing a population or 
habitat, in exercising its functions.

2.1 The London Plan 

The Commission welcomes the Mayor’s 
endorsement of the importance of the 
environment and welcomes his consultation on 
the London Environment Strategy. We particularly 
endorse his aim to make London a National Park 
City and his pioneering of a capital accounting 
framework for the natural world within London. 
By revealing the economic value of public parks 
and green spaces within the London area it will 
demonstrate their worth to all decision makers, 
making it easier to justify investment in them. 

 “Every pound invested in parks and nature 
reserves contributes £30 towards health 
and wellbeing benefits and £23 towards 
crime reduction and community safety.” 
The Land Trust, January 2016

2.2 The Local Plan

It is the view of the Commission that 
Hammersmith and Fulham Council needs 
to make biodiversity a priority in setting out 
planning policy. The Local Plan, which is the 
strategic planning policy document produced 
by the Council, must recognise the many values 
that biodiversity brings to the environment in 
shaping planning policies and seeking to ensure 
that developments take account of the need to 
enhance biodiversity in the Borough. 

To ensure this objective is achieved 
Commissioners believe planning policies should 
be strengthened to ensure existing green space 
is protected and suitable and sufficient green 
space accompanies new developments. Too 
often the wording of policies is not sufficiently 
robust or encompassing. Greater clarity would 
both improve the environment and reduce the 

2. Planning Policy and Practice

Page 21



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 13

lead time to development by preventing costly 
disputes about the nature of development.

The Commission also believes there is scope to 
create new habitats by closing streets or parts 
of them, particularly where schools are located 
beside parks. This would also reduce pollution 
and improve child safety. 

The scale of garden loss within the Borough and 
the impact this is having on biodiversity is a major 
concern of the Commission. We fully appreciate 
that central government planning policy limits 
the Council’s ability to stop this development but 
believe there are initiatives open to the Council 
to mitigate the overall decline in the Borough’s 
garden footprint. 

The Commission believes it is essential that 
the Council first determines the scale of 
historic garden loss within the Borough and 
that it continues to monitor this decline. Such 
information will allow mitigating policies to be 
formulated as well as inform central government 
decision-making in the hope that policies will 
be introduced to prevent/reduce future garden 
“grabbing”.

There are also residents who feel passionately 
about protecting their gardens for future 
generations. The Council could facilitate such 
action by promoting a scheme which would 
allow householders to covenant their gardens by 
providing a template and legal advice. 

A more ambitious scheme would involve creating 
protected garden areas - “Sites of Special Garden 
Interest” - within the Borough in which garden 
development would be prevented and incentives 
provided to enhance gardens to improve their 
biodiversity. Such a scheme would be easier to 
implement with central government support 
as it would give the Council greater authority 
(through extending the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act to include urban gardens, or by establishing 
completely new legislation for urban gardens) 
and allow it to tap into central government 
funds. 

Recommendations

For action by Government and national 
bodies

1. Tenets of EU Environmental legislation to 
be maintained undiluted post Brexit, in 
particular those of the Bird and Habitat 
Directives and the Natura 2000 ecological 
network of protected areas this legislation 
supports.

2. Government to extend the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act to enable designated 
garden areas to be established in inner City 
areas to enhance biodiversity, or to create 
new legislation specifically for this purpose. 

For action by the GLA and regional bodies

3. The Mayor of London is urged to progress 
his proposals to make London a National 
City Park.

For action by the Council

4. Planning policies to be made clearer and 
more robust to ensure the footprints 
of existing valuable green spaces are 
maintained and that suitable green space 
accompanies all new developments 
(a) All commercial and residential 

development, including householder 
extensions undertaken within permitted 
development rights, to provide green 
space on a 1:1 basis at the very least.

Such a policy enshrines the Council’s 
objective and, at the same time, recognises 
that green roofs and walls would not 
provide a total solution in major housing 
developments. Commissioners recognise 
that further discussion is required with 
the Council regarding the definition of a 
large housing development and the ratio 
of 70% of green open space at ground 
level. Commissioners advise that green wall 
infrastructure should be built into walls. 
Plastic frameworks which can be draped 
down walls should not be recognised as 
green walls for planning purposes. 

Page 22



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201714

(b) Development to be confined to existing 
building footprints in all open green 
space in Hammersmith and Fulham.

For the avoidance of doubt this includes 
green space of Metropolitan, Borough 
wide and Local importance, as well as 
allotments. There should be zero tolerance 
to any encroachment into green space - this 
is a heavily populated Borough. “Salami 
slicing” of green space to accommodate 
development is taking place (witness 
the recent Hurlingham Club planning 
application). Repeated small incursions into 
green space to accommodate development 
over time will seriously reduce the footprints 
of the Borough’s green space. Green roofs 
and walls provide some mitigation but 
it is only mitigation. If development is to 
take place, it must be on existing building 
footprints. 

(c) To ensure maximum tree planting 
flexibility, all proposed cellar/lower 
ground floor extensions in existing 
properties must not protrude beyond 
their ground level footprints, similarly, 
cellars in new housing developments.

This policy will ensure that additional 
impediments are not presented to tree 
planting in existing streets and give 
maximum flexibility for tree planting within 
new housing developments. 

(d) All commercial house builders required 
to show in their landscape strategy 
reports for planning applications, 
how they intend to improve their 
development sites for pollinators.

The government introduced the National 
Pollinator Strategy in 2014. As a voluntary 
initiative few developers take it into 
consideration when landscaping. Creating 
initiatives to improve habitats for pollinating 
insects will also help the bird and mammal 
populations.

(e) All developers to seek information from 
Greenspace Information for Greater 
London (GIGL) to better understand 
baseline conditions when preparing 
their baseline reports for planning 
applications.

Research conducted in 20163 by the 
Greater London Authority (GLA) shows 
that approximately 18% of planning 
applications have the potential to impact 
adversely on nature in the capital and that 
only 1% of applications are informed by a 
data search from GIGL. This implies that 
Local Authorities are not being correctly 
informed about baseline conditions and 
that inadequate measures are being taken 
to maintain biodiversity when development 
is taking place. 

(f) Governance improvements required to 
ensure the Council receives impartial 
advice when seeking second opinions on 
the size of green space and affordable 
housing allocations in new housing 
developments. 

Large housing developers often attempt 
to avoid implementing local plan 
commitments on green space and 
affordable housing allocations. Councils 
seek second opinions from outside 
consultants but often these consultants are 
working/or have worked for the developers 
through other subsidiaries. This means 
there are conflicts of interest. To avoid 
such conflicts, the Council should ensure 
any consultant appointed to give a second 
opinion on these matters should not have 
worked for the applicant developer in any 
capacity, for the last five years.

5. Suitable streets or sections of them to be 
closed where schools are located opposite 
public parks and converted to natural 
habitats. This could be done in conjunction 
with SuDS schemes.
Closing strategic streets will create 
additional habitats as asphalt can be 
replaced by shrubs, lawn and even 
vegetated swales. This policy will also 
improve air quality and safety for school 
children and could be linked in with SuDS 
schemes. South Park, for example, presents 
two opportunities as there are schools on 
opposite sides of the park: The Fulham 
Bilingual on Clancarty Rd, (London, SW6 
3AA) and Thomas’s School, Hugon Road 
(London SW6 3ES). Also Phoenix School 
and Cambridge School adjoin Wormholt 
Park. Consideration should also be given 

3 GIGL submission to CommissionPage 23



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 15

to closing sections of roads where housing 
estates face public parks, for example, 
a section of Broomhouse Lane which 
separates the Sullivan Court Estate from 
Hurlingham Park – preferably closer to the 
Sullivan school end. 

6. The Council to take a more active role 
in preventing building developments in 
gardens and in promoting diversity within 
gardens.
(a) H&F to undertake a study of the 

decline in garden green space within 
the Borough since 2000 using aerial 
photographs and knowledge gained 
through planning applications and to 
continue to monitor this decline on a 
yearly basis.

The Commission recognises that central 
government policy on permitted 
development rights makes it difficult to 
stop garden development but that it is 
important to understand the scale of 
the decline in garden green space as a 
precursor to policy formulation for initiatives 
to mitigate the impact and to inform central 
government. To enable the Council to 
more easily monitor garden consumption 
in the future, all householders proposing 
developments, either within permitted 
development rights or via a formal planning 
application, should be required to notify the 
Council of the garden area to be consumed 
by development and the nature of that land 
being displaced - garden or hard surface/
artificial surface.

(b) The Council to assist householders 
to covenant their gardens to prevent 
development.

The Commission recognises that the 
Council has limited powers to restrict 
development in gardens due to central 
government planning policy but believes 
it should exercise the power it has to help 
residents to preserve their gardens for 
future generations. One way in which this 
could be achieved would be to provide 
information or a “tool kit” to enable 
residents to covenant their gardens to 
prevent development. The covenant would 
be registered with the Council as well as 
with property deeds.

(c) H&F to pioneer an initiative to designate 
areas of the Borough: “Sites of Special 
Garden Interest”.

Again, this is an initiative designed to 
preserve gardens and provide oases of 
green within an urban context in a similar 
manner to Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB) and Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSIs) in the countryside. 
Preferably the Council should be supported 
by central government legislation – either 
extending the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act to include urban gardens, or by 
establishing completely new legislation for 
urban gardens. This would make it easier to 
implement such an initiative and allow H&F 
to tap central government funds to execute 
such a scheme. 

Page 24



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201716

3.1 Parks, Open Spaces and their 
Interconnections 

The Borough has 61 green spaces including some 
good quality parks. 13 of the green spaces have 
green flag awards. However, the Borough faces 
many pressures that are relevant to biodiversity 
- increased population, increased pollution and 
declines in central government funding, but 
there is also a highly relevant social change. As 
society becomes more urbanised, wealthy and 
technologically sophisticated, it is becoming 
increasingly divorced from nature and does not 
“see” the relevance of biodiversity. This is one 
of the major challenges the Council faces as a 
successful biodiversity strategy depends on “buy-
in” from local residents. 

“We look after nature, we look after 
mankind”
Respondent to the H&F Biodiversity Survey, 2017

Parks, commons, greens, cemeteries, allotments, 
private gardens, housing estates, road 
verges, waterways, industrial estates and the 

interconnections between these and other 
natural features play a major part in supporting 
the Borough’s biodiversity – but it will take 
a concerted effort by all stakeholders for 
improvements to take place.

(a) Green Corridors

Green corridors are a feature of landscape that 
allows organisms to move across landscapes. 
They are particularly important to small animals 
that find protection for cover as they move. The 
banks of water features act as green corridors 
for non-aquatic species. Railway embankments 
form a similar function. These are potentially long 
distance features. On a smaller scale, hedges and 
street trees provide this in a more local manner. 
Rows of houses with gardens also provide 
green corridors. All these provide a pathway for 
organisms to move under protection of cover and 
in a habitat that provides shelter and food. 

(b) Parks and Commons

Parks are an important source of biodiversity but 
they face growing pressures. Existing parks are 
being required to accommodate more children 
for sports events due to the lack of sizeable 
green space in new housing developments, while 
central government funding cuts to councils have 
led to reduced spending on parks and shortcuts 

3. Greening Policy and Practice

Page 25



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 17

with their maintenance. In particular, shrubs are 
being over-pruned and rubbish-laden compost 
strewn too heavily under trees and shrubs to 
reduce maintenance, causing the death of some 
shrubs. Often there is no budget to replace these 
shrubs and, when there is, there is reluctance to 
plant as it means additional maintenance. 

Regulation has also gone too far – shrubs/
hedges have been emasculated in order to 
reduce anti-social behaviour but the balance is 
not right. There are virtually no intact hedges in 
parks or gardens of council housing estates and 
similarly few shrubs above chest level height. This, 
coupled with the loss of garden space discussed 
in 3.2, has resulted in a very severe decline in 
habitat area and variety in the Borough and has 
contributed to the fall in small bird populations in 
inner London. 

“The full-throated dawn chorus has 
disappeared”
Respondent to the H&F Biodiversity Survey, 2017

Meanwhile contractors spend a great deal of 
time dispersing and collecting leaves from parks. 
This over-concern with cleanliness reduces 
invertebrate numbers by depriving them of leaf 
habitat for over-wintering, leading to fewer bird 
numbers as they are deprived of a food source. 
It is also a possible contributory factor in the 
dramatic decline in hedgehogs.

But, given the will, much can be done to 
rejuvenate the parks through more sensitive 
pruning, changes in the nature of planting 
and by setting aside areas which can be left 
to grow wild or be used to create Ecology 
Gardens with wildflower areas and ponds (see 
Habitats for Wildlife in 3.5). There are also parks 
and commons with disused asphalted areas 
that could be replaced with vegetation and 
opportunities to reduce the surface areas of hard 
standings for sports grounds.

There have been various initiatives put forward 
over the years to replace grassed areas in parks 

and commons with Astroturf/artificial grass 
surfaces, although most have been unsuccessful. 
The Commission would like the Council to ban 
the replacement of grass surfaces with Astroturf/
artificial grass in all open spaces, with the 
possible exception for use on cricket pitches, 
between the wickets, and in small children’s play 
areas. Should existing asphalt sports surfaces 
be replaced with Astroturf, every effort should 
be made to establish whether the area of 
hard surfacing could be reduced, as has been 
successfully achieved in South Park. 

Wormwood Scrubs deserves separate comment 
given its size. It is Common Land and has special 
protection under the Wormwood Scrubs Act 
1879. It is also Metropolitan Open Land and 
parts of it are a Local Nature Reserve. It currently 
has several uses: sports, local nature reserve 
and a historical role of military training ground. 
The advice from the Open Spaces Society is that 
where common land has not been made into 
a formal park, it should be retained in its more 
natural state. The Commission is concerned that 
attempts will be made to turn part or all of the 
Common into a park in the future, and urges the 
Council to retain this Common in its natural state. 

Our main concern is the potential effect of the 
proposed redevelopment of the railway land 
south of the canal on the Scrubs. The designated 
nature reserve, the main habitat of the common 
lizard and ground nesting birds, Meadow 
Pipit and Stonechat, is close to the boundary 
of the redevelopment area. Access from the 
redevelopment site to the Scrubs will need careful 
management to maintain habitat variety and 
biodiversity. It should be possible to direct access 
to the east where the sports fields are and to 
plant more trees or hedges to protect the Local 
Nature Reserve area. 

The railway embankment to the north of 
the Scrubs is a major site for biodiversity and 
should be retained.  It has a very high boundary 
permeability into the Scrubs and so enhances to 
ecological value of the local nature reserve areas 
adjacent to it.

The impact of moving Queen’s Park Rangers to 
the Linford Christie stadium site is unknown. 

Page 26



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201718

We are very concerned about the impact of the 
building footprints and the sheer number of 
people at football matches on wildlife. This is the 
largest area for wildlife in the Borough by a wide 
margin. It should be preserved as a wildlife site 
for future generations and the Commission seeks 
assurances from the Old Oak and Park Royal 
Development Corporation (OPDC) and Queens 
Park Rangers football club that the biodiversity 
of Wormwood Scrubs will be maintained or even 
enhanced during the period of development in 
the area.

We very much agree with The Hammersmith 
Society’s concerns about the proposed OPDC 
development’s effect on the Scrubs and with 
the submission by the Friends of Wormwood 
Scrubs to the consultation. In general, we 
endorse the description of the Scrubs as “more 
wild than tamed” and wish it to remain that way 
for the sake of its wildlife. In particular we are 
concerned about the numbers of visitors to the 
site, which is set to increase greatly and agree 
that “priority should be given to preserving its 
informal character rather than increasing hard-
surface walking and cycling routes or attracting 
visitors from further afield.” We endorse their 
rejection of the proposal for “new and enhanced 
access from Old Oak Common station and 
surrounds” because of the Local Nature Reserve 
on Wormwood Scrubs that would be disturbed, 
as we have mentioned in our report already.

The proposed sewer realignment, parallel to 
the railway, as part of HS2 works, is of concern, 
especially as in the current plan it would include 
a satellite construction compound right next to 
Chats Paddock .This would impact very heavily 
on this sensitive area for wildlife. We recommend 
an alternative plan be found. Also, if Crossrail 
and HS2 are put in place as currently planned, 
particular care must be taken to ensure that any 
new paths on the Scrubs avoid the nature reserve 
areas. Extra protection can be provided by 
planting more trees or hedges around them. 

We agree that light pollution from multiple 
tall towers would also be detrimental to the 
wildlife on the Scrubs as well as the noise and 
disturbance while building work is in progress, 
and agree that new buildings must be set well 

back from the perimeter of all green spaces 
affected, including Mitre Yard and North 
Kensington Gate. The inclusion of ponds or 
scrapes could enhance biodiversity and also 
prevent flooding.

A fuller extract from the Hammersmith Society’s 
response to the consultation is included in 
Appendix D. 

Parks and other public green spaces offer 
wonderful opportunities for education about 
biodiversity. Plant walks led by foragers and 
others have burgeoned in the Borough through 
people hungry for plant stories, to learn how 
to identify plants, to eat and to use them as 
medicine. We should encourage this widespread 
desire to reconnect with nature, but it needs 
responsible management, including teaching 
about legality, when, how and when not to pick 
plants to protect biodiversity and respect Parks 
and heritage sites. Such responsible education 
should be encouraged by managers of Parks and 
botanical heritage sites such as Fulham Palace. 

(c) Cemeteries 

Cemeteries provide a variety of habitats and 
maintain considerable biodiversity. The Borough 
has two public cemeteries (Hammersmith and 
Fulham (Margravine) and two private cemeteries 
(St Mary RC and All Souls, Kensal Green). All 
church grounds in the Borough were closed to 
burials in the 19th century, although Margravine is 
now, once again, accepting internments. They are 
considered to be public open space and are listed 
as such by the London Parks and Gardens Trust. 

The way in which cemeteries are managed varies, 
so the spread of habitat ranges from being 
similar to that of formal parks to good quality 
secondary woodland, while the manner in which 
the public behave in cemeteries means they are 
often quiet and less visited so provide habitat for 
species that would not be at ease in a busy park.

There are nonetheless challenges to improving 
biodiversity within cemeteries as some residents 
consider an overgrown or wild cemetery denotes 
lack of respect and neglect. The Commissioners 
believe that better information is the key to 
improving biodiversity within cemeteries, 

Page 27



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 19

combined with judicious mowing around 
gravestones in cemeteries where there are 
resident concerns. Information boards should 
be in all cemeteries outlining the biodiversity 
objectives of the cemetery or its Friends. 

Margravine Cemetery is a model example of 
how a cemetery can be enhanced to maximise 
its biodiversity and its attractiveness to residents 
through having a committed group of local 
volunteers. 

(d) Allotments and Community 
Gardens

Allotments are another special habitat. There 
is only one major site in the Borough, Fulham 
Palace Meadow Allotments, which has 406 plots. 
They add to biodiversity in the Borough due to 
the variety of plant/food species grown, but 
there is scope for improvement as herbicides and 
pesticides are still being used inappropriately. 

Community gardens within parks also have a role 
to play in enhancing biodiversity and resident 
participation but, again, education is required 
to moderate and, ideally, prevent the use of 
pesticides and herbicides. 

“Important to biodiversity are the LBBs – 
little brown bugs, little brown birds and 
little brown bacteria”
John Goodier, Biodiversity Commissioner

3.2 Gardens

Gardens can contribute enormously to 
biodiversity through the variety of vegetation and 
microhabitats they support. There is enormous 
variety in the composition of the Borough’s 
gardens, ranging from those attached to 
substantial detached houses, to smaller gardens 
linked to terraced housing and the gardening 
in pots on balconies. Most of the houses in the 
Borough are terraces, having small back gardens 
and even smaller front gardens. 

The worrying factor is the decline in the overall 
Borough garden footprint. The trend to concrete 
over front gardens to accommodate cars and/
or reduce maintenance continues, as does the 
desire to increase living space by extending into 
back gardens. Anecdotal evidence suggests that 
this decline has accelerated since householder 
permitted development rights were liberalised 
and stamp duty increased. 

The decline in the garden footprint is having a 
profoundly negative impact on biodiversity within 
the Borough as the total habitat for flora and 
fauna has declined. Further, losses in biodiversity 
can be attributed to residents concreting, decking 
or Astroturfing their back gardens and embracing 
exotic ornamental plants which have little or no 
biodiversity value. 

The Commission appreciates that the Council has 
limited power over garden development due to 
central government planning policy but believes 
that there are initiatives it can take to help 
mitigate the garden decline. First, an informed 
assessment of the shrinkage of the Borough’s 
garden footprint must be undertaken and this 
must continue to be monitored on an annual 
basis (see Planning Policy and Practice). 

As we pointed out in “Planning Policy and 
Practice” we believe there are measures which 
the Council could implement to improve garden 
biodiversity, such as facilitating the covenanting 
of gardens, spearheading the creation of 
designated protected garden areas. The Council 
could also launch a public “Grey to Green” 
campaign to encourage residents to re-green 
their gardens. 

In addition, we believe that education plays an 
important role in changing behaviour. Many 
householders are unaware of the importance 
of different plant species for pollinators and 
welcome knowledge of appropriate planting. 
The Council could access a brochure on planting 
for pollinators which could be published on its 
website and sent to all householders with their 
council tax bills. 

Page 28



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201720

3.3 Industrial and Housing Estates

Industrial estates are not normally associated with 
biodiversity given the absence of green space, 
but abandoned estates/brownfield sites can 
have considerable diversity (bats, foxes and plant 
species that are pollinator friendly) although not 
all of it is welcome to everyone. Buddleia, which 
often grows on these estates, is excellent habitat 
for butterflies while other pollinator friendly 
“weeds” such as dandelion and bramble, which 
support bees, are also common on these sites.

As we outlined in the previous section, any site 
proposed for development should be informed by 
biodiversity information provided by Greenspace 
Information for Greater London (GIGL) to better 
understand baseline conditions. 

The Commission believes that combining better 
information with a policy to ensure green space 
is given equal weight to the building environment 
in planning terms, will considerably improve 
biodiversity in the Borough (see Planning Policy 
and Practice section). 

In industrial estates, greening could be achieved 
through green roofs and walls and better 
tree planting, should scope for creating green 
open space be unavailable. In large housing 
developments (say 50 plus dwellings) at least 
70% of the green space must comprise ground 
level non-paved open green space to ensure 
there is adequate recreation ground for residents 
as well as enhancing biodiversity.

Established private housing estates can be over-
manicured and their green space dominated 
by plant and tree species which support little 
biodiversity. Often this reflects the landscaping 
policy of the original developers of cutting 
costs by choosing low maintenance species and 
achieving economies of scale by bulk purchasing, 
but better public education could result in more 
intervention in favour of biodiversity by residents. 

In the main, council housing estates are subject 
to many of the pressures faced by public parks, 
as described under 3.1, but there are notable 
exceptions, in particular the greening of the 
Queen Caroline Estate in Hammersmith. This 
is an outstanding blueprint for the rest of the 
Borough as it demonstrates how a sustainable 
drainage system (SuDS) scheme can be combined 
with resident participation to produce a win-win 
situation for both residents and the environment. 

3.4 Green and Blue Corridors

The Grand Union Canal runs through the 
Borough within the Old Oak and Park Royal 
Development Corporation (OPDC) area. 
The redevelopment of the area provides an 
opportunity to add to the variety of plant species, 
and hence animal species. There are examples of 
reasonable good practice in the Ealing parts of 
the OPDC. Much of the water in the canal in this 
area is derived from the Colne River and the Frays 
(a manmade water course) and is of good quality. 
It supports a large fish population, which is only 
visible during angling competitions. The canal is 
part of a 26 mile spread of lock free water and 
connects to a 2200-mile system in England and 
Wales.

The River Thames is the other main blue corridor. 
As a tidal river it provides a variety of habitats 
from permanently watered river to an area of 
land-based plants that tolerate tidal inundation. 
Much of the Thames in the Borough is mud 
flats. It is an interesting accident of history that 
the Borough is geographically defined by the 
two rivers, Counters Creek and Stamford Brook, 
and yet has no natural flowing water within 
its borders. The Commission believes there 
is considerable scope to green the footpaths 
running along the Thames and to provide wildlife 
friendly river banks as development offsets.

3.5 Habitats for Wildlife

In the past the Borough has planted a wide 
variety of plant species and that has made a 
contribution to biodiversity. Native species are 
important to those organisms that have co-
evolved with them. Non-native species are not 
as useful to native small species which have very 
specific requirements. Ornamental varieties of 
plants are often bred to have showy flowers 
where reproductive parts are replaced by 
additional petals. As a result, they often have 
few if any nectaries, little or no pollen and do 
not set fruits or seeds. All these features reduce 
available food for animals. Bees that are essential 
to the production of many fruit and seed crops 
(e.g. plums) are maintained outside the flowering 
period of these crop plants by other sources of 
pollen and nectar. To maintain biodiversity, it 
is necessary that the flowering and fruiting of 
plants is spread as widely as possible over the 
year. 

Page 29



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 21

Biodiversity is encouraged by the structure of 
the habitat. Leaving parts of grass areas to grow 
tall encourages biodiversity by increasing the 
variety of habitats and by providing food. Where 
it does not conflict with the use of parks for 
sports or picnic areas, grass should be mown less 
frequently. Underneath mature trees would seem 
a suitable place; not only will it provide habitat 
but it could reduce compaction and thus improve 
the growth of the tree. We are aware that some 
people see this as untidy; an alternative would be 
to grow annual or perennial flowering meadows 
which mainly consist of colourful flowering 
plants, and would in themselves increase 
biodiversity.

Hammersmith & Fulham has 9000 street trees 
and 4000 trees on its housing estates. This 
number would be considerably higher with 
park and garden trees and all others included. 
Ravenscourt Park alone has 600 trees and more 
are being planted in the Borough each year.

The trees are of a variety of species. The many 
large plane trees that were planted over 100 
years ago have minimal biodiversity value, though 
they do provide good canopy cover and some 
protection against air pollution. Many streets 
are lined with lime trees which support more 
species of invertebrates. Other street trees tend 
to be smaller and often ornamental. Pink hybrid 
double-flowering cherry trees and Himalayan 
birches are popular and beautiful, but do not 
have biodiversity value. Some streets are lined 
with rowans, which support 28 species of 
invertebrates and provide food for birds. They 
look lovely when in berry, but rarely survive 
more than 20 years, so are not a very sustainable 
option on streets, but could probably survive 
better in parks. Other trees locally include silver 
birches which support over 200 invertebrate 
species, alders which support 90 such species, 
and hornbeams which support 28 species.

The parks have a wide variety of trees including 
large exotic ones which for this reason are not 
best for promoting wildlife. There are very few 
oaks, which are the best tree for biodiversity. 
They support around 300 or more invertebrate 
species and can live up to 500 years, occasionally 
double that! They require a lot of space for their 
roots to spread, so are not suitable as street trees. 
However, the Council’s current tree officer is keen 
to plant them wherever possible. They could be 
suitable replacements when the large exotic trees 
die. Willow trees also have an exceptionally high 

biodiversity value and could be planted more in 
our parks, including pussy willow, which attracts 
pollinators.

“What’s good for bugs is good for you”
Respondent to the H&F Biodiversity Survey, 2017

Hedges are a great nesting habitat for birds and 
provide homes for hedgehogs and invertebrates. 
But many of the hedges in the Borough’s green 
spaces are just of one species, such as beech or 
holly. They would support more wildlife if they 
were made up of a mixture of native species. 
This is true of the hedges on Wormwood Scrubs, 
including one that was planted within the last 
10 years. Unfortunately, the wildflowers that 
were planted next to it have not survived well, 
apart from teasels and thistles which goldfinches 
love. Hedges have also been over-pruned, 
which means they do not have the critical 
mass to provide food and shelter for birds and 
invertebrates. 

As regards other flora, there are places on 
housing estates and in some parks where 
wildflowers have been planted and grasses 
have been allowed to grow longer to support 
pollinators and other invertebrates such as 
grasshoppers and lizards. The wildflower patches 
have not always been well maintained (e.g. 
Ravenscourt Park nature garden) and some of the 
long grass has been mown short in response to 
residents’ complaints. The lack of understanding 
as to why it’s necessary to have well joined-
up wild spaces to support wildlife could be 
addressed with more signage and explanations. 
Perennials that support pollinators, herbs and 
wildflowers require less maintenance than formal 
arrangements of bedding plants that don’t 
support wildlife, and would, therefore, reduce 
costs. Generally, there is a need for more planting 
for pollinators in the Borough to protect bees, 
hoverflies, butterflies and moths from declining 
even further than at present.

Page 30



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201722

“Fewer wildflowers – no poppies!”
Respondent to the H&F Biodiversity Survey, 2017

Given the Borough’s lack of open water, ponds, 
both formal and informal (including pond 
dipping sites) are an important contributor to 
biodiversity by providing wetland habitats. Very 
few of H&F’s green spaces have them though 
they attract a lot of attention from park visitors, 
especially those with children. The larger ones 
provide habitat for water birds including swans, 
ducks, geese, herons, coots, moorhens and gulls 
and are found in Bishop’s Park, Ravenscourt 
Park and Hammersmith Park. The smaller ones, 
like those in Ravenscourt Park nature garden, 
Phoenix, Godolphin and Lena Gardens and South 
Park Ecology corner, provide habitat for smaller 
pond creatures including frogs and toads. 

An unknown number of people have such a 
pond in their gardens but almost every green 
space would be richer in wildlife if it included a 
small pond, or in the case of Wormwood Scrubs, 
a larger one or several smaller ones. Frogs and 
toads eat slugs and snails, so are beneficial to 
gardeners, and ponds judicially placed can also 
help to prevent flooding. This is important in the 
case of Wormwood Scrubs, to prevent run-off 
onto Wood Lane. Ponds in urban public places 
need to be inside an enclosure for health and 
safety reasons, and also need to be maintained 
properly in order to continue to support healthy 
wildlife. The pond in Ravenscourt Park nature 
garden is currently lacking attention but, 
nevertheless, has a constant stream of children 
visiting it when there are tadpoles. 

Recommendations

For action by the GLA, the 
Corporation of London and the OPDC

1. Herbicides and pesticides to be banned in 
all public spaces and where exceptions are 
necessary to control invasive species such 
as Japanese knot weed, glyphosate based 
pesticides to be used only on a cut-and-
paste basis. 

2. Artificial grass/Astroturf to be banned in 
public green spaces other than for use to 
replace existing asphalt sports surfaces, 
with the possible exception for use as 
cricket pitches between wickets.

3. Efforts to be made to reduce hard standing 
footprints of sports grounds in parks and 
commons.

4. Assurances should be given by the OPDC 
that the biodiversity of Wormwood 
Scrubs will be maintained throughout the 
development of the Old Oak and Park Royal 
site. Specifically, points of access and the 
use of the Common should be managed to 
protect the wildlife. Play equipment areas 
should be on the periphery of the sports 
pitch area and outdoor gym equipment 
should be near the street workout 
structures north of the Linford Christie 
Stadium. 

5. Proper consideration must be given to the 
biodiversity value of Wormwood Scrubs, 
Mitre yard and North Kensington Gate, 
and especially to those parts which are 
designated as a Local Nature Reserve. In 
particular this means:
(a) Keeping the area “more wild than 

tamed”, and consulting all the wildlife 
surveys of the site, including that of 
Leanne Brisland in 2015, and that of the 
London Wildlife Trust in 2016, before 
commencing any development close to 
the green spaces.

(b) Ensuring that new high-rise buildings are 
sited well away from the perimeter of 
the site, because of light pollution.

(c) Not allowing new access to the site 
anywhere near the Local Nature Reserve. 
We also recommend that an alternative 
plan should be found to the proposed 
sewer realignment as part of HS2 works 
because of the heavy impact it would 
have on a sensitive area for wildlife.

(d) Providing green spaces in the new 
developments to prevent over-use 
of Wormwood Scrubs by the greatly 
increased numbers of local residents. 

(e) Rigorous assessment of the probable 
impact on wildlife, before any decision is 
taken to move Queens Park Rangers to 
the Linford Christie stadium site.

(f) The railway embankment to the north of 
the Scrubs is a major site for biodiversity 
and should be retained.  It has a very 
high boundary permeability into the 
Scrubs and so enhances the ecological 

Page 31



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 23

value of the local nature reserve areas 
adjacent to it.

For action by the Council

Significant weight should be given to the 
biodiversity aspect of trees in all planting 
situations. This means, for example, more oaks, 
willows, silver birches, pink/white hawthorn, 
rowan and alders and fewer exotic trees or 
double-flowered cherries in future planting.

1. Hedges in all planting situations to include a 
greater variety of native species.

2. All parks, commons and cemeteries to 
support “wild” areas, where possible, 
including ponds to promote biodiversity 
- with improved signage to increase 
understanding and public acceptance.

3. Parks and other public spaces to be re-
vegetated to compensate for the loss of 
vegetation caused by over-pruning, disease, 
vandalism and old age.

4. Large expanses of asphalt in parks/
commons, such as the area near the Effie 
Road entrance of Eel Brook Common, to be 
replaced with lawn, shrubs or wild flower 
meadows.

5. Enshrine good practice protocols – 
pruning, mowing, for example, pruning 
of shrubs limited to 50% of the shrub 
cover in any one year and any pruning not 
to be severe, and 1 in 3 street trees at a 
time (as recommended in the Air Quality 
Commission report).

6. Herbicides and pesticides to be banned in 
all public spaces and where exceptions are 
necessary to control invasive species such 
as Japanese knotweed, glyphosate based 
pesticides to be used only on a cut-and-
paste basis. 

7. Artificial grass/Astroturf to be banned in 
public green spaces other than for use to 
replace existing asphalt sports surfaces, 
with the possible exception for use as 
cricket pitches between wickets.

8. Efforts to be made to reduce hard standing 
footprints of sports grounds in parks and 
commons.

9. The Council to access a brochure on 
planting for pollinators to be published on 
its website and sent to all householders 
with their council tax bills. 

10. The Council to promote a scheme to green 
gardens called “From Grey to Green” and 
to sponsor an annual award for the best 
transformation. 

11. The Council to ensure the Biodiversity 
Commission’s recommendations are 
incorporated in the work towards the re-
tendering of a new Grounds Maintenance 
contract in 2021, and that biodiversity is a 
key deliverable in this contract. This should 
involve basic training for the workers on 
gardening for wildlife.

12. The railway embankment to the north of 
the Scrubs is a major site for biodiversity 
and should be retained.  It has a very high 
boundary permeability into the Scrubs and 
so enhances the ecological value of the 
local nature reserve areas adjacent to it.

Page 32



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201724

4.1 An Ecology Centre and Ecology 
Officer 

We think the most visible and accessible way to 
increase people’s understanding and involvement 
with biodiversity would be for the Council to 
create an Ecology Centre in or near one of the 
parks in the Borough. We would not want this to 
encroach on any of the areas that provide habitat 
for wildlife though! Perhaps it could be housed 
in an existing building. It could be a source of 
inspiration as well as being a resource centre for 
educational projects to increase understanding 
of how biodiversity works, and volunteering 
projects connected with creating more habitat 
for wildlife. It could also be the base for designing 
more signage and beautifully illustrated boards 
to inform people about the habitats that are 
being created and improved for wildlife. The 
ecology officer would play a crucial role in 
making it functional, together with assistants and 
volunteers.

4.2 Greenfest

Greenfest was an annual event in the Borough 
from 2004 to 2011, held in Bishop’s Park, Parson’s 
Green or Furnival Gardens in the summer. Stalls 
were run by local environmental and community 
organisations, with bicycle maintenance 

workshops, how to cycle safely, and much 
more. Unfortunately, the Council withdrew the 
funding. We would like it to be revived, including 
local ‘green’ business to showcase best practice. 
Commission members would play our part by 
providing education about biodiversity, including, 
for instance, how to make our windowsills and 
gardens more wildlife-friendly, and games or 
quizzes to engage young people. We would 
also use it to publicise a calendar of events 
throughout the year, such as nature walks and 
planting wildflowers or bulbs. 

4.3 Schools

Urbanwise.London already works with 31 
primary schools in the Borough on a range of 
environmental projects, including learning about 
biodiversity. Also, Hammersmith Community 
Gardens Association works regularly with 11 
schools in the Borough including delivering 
gardening projects and volunteering sessions at 
the wonderful Phoenix School Farm. We would 
like this kind of work to be expanded to involve 
more schools and more students from each 
school. We would like biodiversity to be given a 
higher profile in local schools and for publicity 
to be provided to highlight how well the topic 
fits into the national curriculum’s requirements. 
Outdoor education should be encouraged in 

4 Putting People at the Heart of Biodiversity

Page 33



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 25

schools in order to connect young people with 
nature and their local environment, promoting 
health and wellbeing for students. The Ecology 
Officer would be well-placed to assist with 
delivering and expanding on outdoor education 
and advising schools on how to improve 
biodiversity within the school grounds.

4.4 Families and Informal Learning

Informal learning projects already happen in the 
school holidays in some of our green spaces, 
organised by Hammersmith Community Gardens 
Association (HCGA), and they are well-equipped 
to run projects involving hands-on education 
about wildlife. The proposed Ecology Officer and 
Centre would also increase the opportunities 
for informal learning, both at the centre and as 
outreach, delivering events and activities in other 
areas or educating, training and empowering 
others to do so.  We would like this kind of 
work to be expanded, so that every family in 
the Borough could easily access one of these 
schemes, without needing a car to reach it. In 
addition to engaging the children, their parents 
are likely to become more interested in nature 
and biodiversity.  The results of our Biodiversity 
Survey highlight the need to interest and engage 
more young people and adults under 40, and 
many people with young families fit this category.

4.5 Community Groups and 
Individuals

The proposed Ecology Officer, whom we 
consider essential to enable wildlife habitats to 
be increased and maintained, should involve 
existing community groups in these projects 
and provide support for groups to proactively 
improve their own neighbourhoods. This could 
be in the form of expert advice, education, 
training, signposting to fundraising sources, 
organising voluntary task days, for example litter-
picking or planting, or providing links to other 
local environmental organisations who could 
help them to deliver these tasks, e.g. Thames 
21, HGCA, Groundworks.  There will be people 
in these groups who can be inspired to do this 
and who will in turn inspire others. The projects 
should be well-advertised in every way possible to 
encourage those who are retired, marginalised or 

socially isolated to get involved. In particular there 
are likely to be retired people who are seeking 
a sense of purpose in their new lifestyle, who 
would find gardening for wildlife fulfilling and a 
source of companionship.

4.6 Tenants’ & Residents’ 
Associations and Estates

The Council has done some admirable work on 
some estates, in collaboration with the residents, 
to make their green spaces more wildlife friendly, 
and to provide attractive playspaces for children 
at the same time. There is now more awareness 
about nature and biodiversity among those 
residents, and greater enthusiasm for it too. 
We would recommend that this kind of project 
be extended eventually to all housing estates 
in the Borough.  The Ecology Officer, as stated 
more fully in 4.5 above, would be well-placed to 
provide support for these groups to pro-actively 
improve their own neighbourhood.

4.7 Businesses

There is much evidence that having green space, 
trees and flowers close to one’s workplace 
improves health and wellbeing. This is reflected 
in a reduction in sick leave and better retention 
of staff. Many businesses find that providing a 
sensory and/or productive garden as a breakout 
space, for instance, is beneficial to the workers in 
terms of health and wellbeing, and thus increases 
the productivity of the business itself.  We would 
therefore encourage businesses to provide and 
improve green spaces on their sites including 
planting trees.

Many businesses now engage in Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR) to give back to the 
community and environment in which they 
are based.  We would urge local businesses, in 
particular medium and large businesses (>200 
employees) to commit to one environmental 
improvement action day, for 25% of employees, 
per year in the borough.  The Ecology Officer, as 
stated more fully in 4.5 above, would be well-
placed to provide support for facilitating the 
CSR days by providing links for businesses to the 
relevant local organisations, community groups, 
individuals, Tenants and Residents Associations 

Page 34



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201726

to help them deliver these environmental 
improvements.

4.8 Hospitals and GP Health Centres

Every hospital or health centre should include 
a green space with medicinal plants and 
food and encouraging wildlife to provide and 
demonstrate the benefits of nature for our health 
and wellbeing. These gardens would not only 
bring people together to reduce isolation, but 
also provide a wonderful resource for learning 
how to eat, cook and use foods to support 
health, better manage chronic disease, and 
to treat minor ailments. Minor ailments are 
suitable for self medication but take up some 
20% of GP consultations and 91% of these 
result in prescriptions, costing £38,000 per GP 
or £1.4bn overall per year. Leading examples 
of good practice are Bromley by Bow Health 
Centre, which has thriving gardening activities 
for wellbeing, and the Lambeth GP Food Co-op 
which transforms unused space in GP practices 
for food growing to build community-led health.

4.9 Response to H&F Biodiversity 
Survey

Earlier this year the Commission circulated a 
survey on biodiversity to the residents of the 
Borough. We were pleased to see that 251 
residents responded to it. However, a high 
proportion of respondents were aged over 40, 
so clearly more work is needed to engage the 
interest of younger people.

Among those who did respond there was an 
overwhelming recognition of the importance 
of biodiversity, and many chose to explain why 
in passionate terms. This shows that there is 
strong support among residents for our work 
on the Commission, provided of course that our 
recommendations are carried out!

Many respondents also emphasised the need for 
more and better education about biodiversity, 
so that people will understand the need for 
wild spaces in parks and gardens, and more 
native trees that support wildlife rather than 
ornamental ones. The need to find alternatives to 
pesticides and herbicides was another common 
theme. Some respondents mentioned that the 
urgent need to improve air quality is at the same 
time an essential measure towards making our 
environment more wildlife-friendly.

When asked whether they had noticed a 

decline in wildlife in their area, perhaps the 
most haunting comment was “Full-throated 
dawn chorus disappeared”. Not one respondent 
recorded seeing a hedgehog in the last 15 years. 
Another respondent said that the owls and 
sparrows have gone, and others that there are 
fewer starlings and swifts, ladybirds, stag beetles, 
bats and frogs, and fewer wildflowers: “No 
poppies”. The full results of the survey can be 
found at the back of this report in Appendix D. 

Recommendations

For action by the Council:

1. For the Council to appoint a permanent 
Ecology Officer and establish an Ecology 
Centre in or near one of the parks in the 
Borough. The Ecology Officer’s role would 
be to ensure that ecology and biodiversity 
are given proper consideration in every 
aspect of Council policy and to set up and 
run an attractive Ecology Centre which 
would provide a focus for the public to 
become more interested in nature and 
biodiversity. This could be done with the 
help of assistants and volunteers. Part of 
the Ecology Officer’s role would be to act 
as volunteer co-ordinator which would 
involve organising greening projects around 
the Borough, training and recruiting 
volunteers. 

2. With the Ecology Officer in the lead, 
promote and encourage volunteering 
initiatives for environmental improvement 
in the Borough’s parks and green spaces. 
This could involve Friends of Parks groups, 
Residents’ and Tenants’ Associations, 
existing volunteer groups and organisations 
and local businesses, as well as individuals 
of all ages who would benefit from contact 
with nature and a sense of purpose.

3. To sponsor the revival of Greenfest as an 
annual event.

4. To facilitate the expansion of outdoor 
education about nature with schools in 
the Borough. Also to enable Hammersmith 
Community Gardens Association to expand 
its work or a sister organisation to be 
formed which would enable more families 
to access informal outdoor learning in our 
parks and green spaces. We would like 
biodiversity to be given a higher profile 
in local schools and for publicity to be 
provided to highlight how well the topic fits 

Page 35



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 27

into the national curriculum’s requirements. 
The Ecology Officer would be well-placed 
to assist with delivering and expanding on 
outdoor education and advising schools 
on how to improve biodiversity within the 
school grounds.

5. The proposed Ecology Officer and Centre 
would also increase the opportunities for 
informal learning, both at the centre and 
as outreach, delivering events and activities 
in other areas or educating, training and 
empowering others to do so.  We would 
like this kind of work to be expanded, so 
that every family in the Borough could 
easily access one of these schemes, without 
needing a car to reach it. In addition to 
engaging the children, their parents are 
likely to become more interested in nature 
and biodiversity.  

6. To eventually extend the excellent work the 
Council has done to make some housing 
estates more wildlife–friendly, to all the 
housing estates in the Borough. 

7. The Ecology Officer, as stated more fully in 
4.5 above, would be well-placed to provide 
support for these groups to pro-actively 
improve their own neighbourhood. 

8. To continue to work on improving air 
quality in the Borough, as this is also 
essential to supporting the growth of 
biodiversity, and is important to many 
members of the public.

9. To encourage businesses to provide green 
spaces and trees on their sites, in the 
recognition that this will improve the health 
and wellbeing of their employees and 
consequently the efficiency of the business. 

For action by the NHS:
10. To ensure that every hospital or health 

centre is a pleasant place to visit with green 
space, trees and flowers for pollinators 
and medicinal plants and foods to act as 
a resource for learning about nutrition, 
gardening, self care and promoting health. 
All new hospitals or health centres should 
include productive gardens, learning from 
best practice and social prescribing models.

For action by businesses:
11. Many businesses now engage in Corporate 

Social Responsibility (CSR) to give back to 
the community and environment in which 
they are based. If an employee spent 
1% of their working year on CSR, this 
would equate to approximately 2 working 
days per year.  We would urge local 
businesses, in particular medium and large 
businesses (>200 employees) to commit 
to a minimum of one environmental 
improvement action day, for 25% of 
employees, per year in the borough.  The 
Ecology Officer, would be well-placed to 
provide support for facilitating CSR days 
by providing links for businesses to the 
relevant local organisations, community 
groups, individuals, Tenants and Residents 
Associations to help them deliver these 
environmental improvements. 

Page 36



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201728

The Commissioners
Morag Carmichael (Chair)

Morag coordinates the local Friends of the Earth 
group in H&F and has previously volunteered 
with environmental social charity Groundwork. 
She continues to volunteer with the Trees for 
Life project in Scotland and with forest school in 
various places around London. She has lived in 
H&F for 45 years.

Louise Barton

Louise’s professional background is in finance, 
although earlier she qualified as an agricultural 
scientist. She has lived in Fulham for more than 
30 years and is a committee member of the 
Friends of South Park. She is actively involved 
with a vegetable and herb garden where adults 
and children are encouraged to take an interest in 
gardening and nature.

Professor Derek Clements-Croome

Derek is an architectural engineer and a professor 
at Reading University and Queen Mary University 
London. He specialises in the design and 
management of intelligent buildings and cities 
focusing on health and wellbeing. He is a built 
environment expert for the Design Council and 
a Fellow of the Royal Society of Medicine. He 
is especially interested in biophilic design and 
making space for nature in buildings and cities to 
improve health and wellbeing of people.

John Goodier

John is a friend of Ravenscourt Park. He has 
a degree in agricultural botany and has a 
wide theoretical background. He helped to 
write a previous Biodiversity Action Plan for 
Hammersmith & Fulham. John organises the 
walks programme for the London Parks and 
Gardens Trust, and regularly writes about public 
openspace in their magazine London Landscapes.

Vanessa Hampton

Vanessa has worked in parks, allotments, 
horticulture and conservation project 
management for 15 years and is currently 
manager of Walpole Park in Ealing. She is also a 

committee member of the Friends of Wormholt 
Park and has lived in Hammersmith & Fulham for 
14 years.

Alex Laird

Alex is on the Friends of Bishops Park committee 
and is a medical herbalist at Breast Cancer Haven 
in Fulham and Whipps Cross University Hospital. 
She has lived in Fulham since 1978. She runs the 
charity Living Medicine to revive knowledge in 
the safe use of plants and food as medicine, and 
create with the public a beautiful World Kitchen 
Garden visitor centre to link medicinal gardens 
around the world.

Dr Nathalie Mahieu

Nathalie is a Friend of Margravine Cemetery. She 
has a degree in geology and is a keen naturalist. 
She routinely surveys birds in Margravine 
Cemetery and the surrounding area, as well as 
insects. She has been monitoring the Peregrine 
Falcons on the roof of Charing Cross Hospital 
since 2007.

Cathy Maund

Cathy has worked for the Hammersmith 
Community Gardens Association for 32 years. 
HCGA work with a variety of schools, groups 
and volunteers. They have four sites in H&F: 
Ravenscourt Park glasshouses, Phoenix School 
farm, Godolphin Gardens and Lena Gardens.

Moya O’Hara

Moya has worked for Urbanwise.London 
(previously Hammersmith & Fulham Urban 
Studies Centre) for nine of its 34 years of 
existence. The centre mostly works with 
children and young people in London, especially 
Hammersmith & Fulham and its surrounding 
boroughs. The work focuses on learning about all 
aspects of the local urban environment including 
its wildlife, green spaces, the river and the canal.

Appendix A

Page 37



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 29

References
Key Reports and Literature Reviewed

The key documents that formed the literature 
review are listed below with weblinks:

• Urban Ecology and Biodiversity in  
Hammersmith & Fulham  
http://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/ 
mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=84659&ISATT 
=1#search=%22Urban%20ecology 
%20biodiversity%22

• Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England’s 
wildlife and ecosystem service 2011 
(Defra) https://www.gov.uk/government/
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/69446/pb13583-biodiversity-
strategy-2020-111111.pdf

• City of London Draft Biodiversity Action 
Plan 2016-2020 (pdf) https://www.lbhf.gov.
uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/
city_of_london_2016-2020.pdf

• GLA Housing Committee Scoping Paper 
June 2016: Promoting Biodiversity in New 
Housing Developments (pdf) https://www.
london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/
s59849/05a%20Appendix%201.pdf

• Chartered Institute of Ecology and 
Environmental Management (CIEEM): 
Guidelines for Ecological Impact 
Assessment in the UK and Ireland 
(Terrestrial, Freshwater and Coastal) Second 
Edition 2016 https://www.cieem.net/
data/files/Publications/EcIA_Guidelines_
Terrestrial_Freshwater_and_Coastal_
Jan_2016.pdf

• The Natural Choice: Securing the value 
of nature, June 2011 (HM Government) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/228842/8082.pdf

• Biodiversity: Understanding the Living 
World (EU Research, 2010) http://www.
gppq.fct.pt/h2020/_docs/brochuras/env/
eriaction_biodiversity_en.pdf

• The National Pollinator Strategy: for 
bees and other pollinators in England 
November 2014 (Defra) https://www.
gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/409431/
pb14221national-pollinators-strategy.pdf

• Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning 
Document, July 2013 (H&F Council) https://
www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_
attachments/planning_guidance_spd_final_
tcm21-181716.pdf

• State of Nature UK report 2016 (RSPB) (pdf) 
https://www.rspb.org.uk/Images/State%20
of%20Nature%20UK%20report_%20
20%20Sept_tcm9-424984.pdf

• Zoological Society of London (ZSL) Lets 
Work for Wildlife Guidance Document: 
Conservation of Tidal Thames Fish through 
the Planning Process (pdf) https://www.
zsl.org/sites/default/files/media/2016-10/
Tidal%20Thames%20Fish%20Guidance%20
Document.pdf

• UN Environmental Programme: Global 
Environmental Outlook 4, Chapter 5 http://
pardee.du.edu/sites/default/files/GEO-4_
Report_Full_en.pdf 

• UN Environmental Programme: Global 
Environmental Outlook 5, Chapter 5 http://
www.unep.org/geo/sites/unep.org.geo/files/
documents/geo5_report_c5.pdf

• Draft London Environment Strategy (GLA, 
August 2017) https://www.london.gov.
uk/sites/default/files/draft_environment_
strategy_-_executive_summary.pdf

• Hammersmith & Fulham Council Local Plan 
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/planning/planning-
policy/local-plan

Appendix B

Page 38



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201730

• Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Air 
Quality Commission (October 2016) https://
www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_
attachments/212_56ds_report_of_the_hf_
air_quality_commission_rev5.pdf

• Green Space and Health (POSTnote 538, 
2016) http://researchbriefings.parliament.
uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/POST-
PN-0538

• Creating Age-friendly Cities (POSTnote 539, 
2016) http://researchbriefings.parliament.
uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/POST-
PN-0539?utm_source=directory&utm_
medium=website&utm_campaign=PN539

• Trends in the Environment (POSTnote 516, 
2016) http://researchbriefings.parliament.
uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/POST-
PN-0516

• Biodiversity Auditing (POSTnote 490, 2015) 
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/
ResearchBriefing/Summary/POST-PN-490

• Urban Green Infrastructure (POSTnote 448, 
2013) http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/
ResearchBriefing/Summary/POST-PN-448/

• Biodiversity and Planning Decisions 
(POSTnote 429, 2013) http://
researchbriefings.parliament.uk/
ResearchBriefing/Summary/POST-PN-429

Page 39



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 31

Summary of Written 
Evidence Submissions 
Received
In May 2017 the Commission issued an open 
call for written evidence of the need to enhance 
biodiversity and the best means of doing so.

Buglife - the only organisation in Europe 
devoted to the conservation of all invertebrates.

The evidence submitted by Buglife expressed 
particular concern at the continuing loss of 
brownfield sites to development in urban 
areas - many of these areas are often prioritised 
for development but are often incredibly 
valuable for invertebrates and other wildlife. 
The submission referred the Commission to 
the information provided in the organisation’s 
brownfield guidance: www.buglife.org.uk/sites/
default/files/Planning%20for%20Brownfield%20
Biodiversity.pdf and the wider information on 
their brownfield hub: https://www.buglife.org.uk/
brownfield-hub

The submission also asked the Commission to 
consider the needs of native wild pollinators 
found across urban areas, including London. 
The response proposed that the Council be 
asked to develop a Local Pollinator Action Plan 
so that the needs of pollinators are considered 
and proactively addressed across the whole 
range of council functions and duties. Advice 
on the preparation of a Local Pollinator Action 
Plan along with more information on the needs 
of urban pollinators was proffered: www.
buglife.org.uk/sites/default/files/Helping%20
Pollinators%20Locally.pdf

GiGL (Greenspace Information for Greater 
London) 

The GiGL response addressed some of the 
specific questions that the Commission had set 
for the submission of evidence.

1.  What can be done to enhance the 
biodiversity of a densely populated 
urban environment such as 
Hammersmith & Fulham? 

The first step towards enhancing biodiversity is 
to understand what is present in the Borough. 
This is something we can assist you with as we 
hold species, habitat, open space and designated 
site data for the whole of Greater London - 
http://www.gigl.org.uk/our-data-holdings/ but 
it is also something that Hammersmith and 
Fulham can contribute to, for instance through 
commissioning new borough-wide habitat 
surveys, or targeted species surveys to improve 
your understanding and knowledge of particular 
sites or species in your area. A data visualisation 
(Hammersmith&FulhamVis) from 2015 is also 
provided separately to give an overview of the 
species data we hold specifically for your area. 

It is also important to comply with national and 
regional policy and legislation pertaining to the 
natural environment, and this is also something 
we can help with via services developed for this 
purpose. A copy of a recent letter (biodiversity 
evidence) sent to all heads of planning in London 
is attached separately to this email, and sets 
out relevant policy and the current performance 
generally of the planning system in relation to 
nature.

2.  What examples of good practice can 
we draw upon? 

A number of London Boroughs are refreshing 
and relaunching their biodiversity action plans, a 
proven mechanism for engaging London experts 
and local people in the design of projects and 
also in the decision-making process.

Appendix C

Page 40



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201732

3.  How best can we monitor 
improvements?

There will be examples in local and regional 
biodiversity action plans, but suggestions specifc 
to our remit include: 

By establishing a baseline for habitats, species, 
and designated sites, and resurveying them on 
a regular basis to detect changes due to site 
management, development and other external 
factors. 

By monitoring changes in the number of 
planning applications submitted with evidence 
of a background data search being undertaken 
by GiGL (see the Biodiversity Evidence letter for 
further details).

Port of London Authority

The PLA and stakeholders recently developed 
a Vision for the Tidal Thames (http://www.
pla.co.uk/About-Us/The-Thames-Vision) which 
includes a goal to make the river the cleanest 
since the Industrial Revolution. To achieve this 
there are a number of priority actions, including 
“Improve biodiversity of sites recognised for their 
wildlife interest, and the connections between 
them”. To prorgess this action the Authority has 
recently set up a Biodiversity Group of relevant 
environmental regulators and charities. This 
Group is looking at many of the same issues 
that the H&F Biodiversity Commission has been 
looking at– principally what data is available, how 
can we encourage creation of green corridors 
and improve biodiversity of sites and how can 
we monitor improvements. The Vision is looking 
to enhance connections along the river corridor 
and for 500m inland of Mean High Water. The 
PLA has also established an Invasive Non-Native 
Species (INNS) Group of interested stakeholders 
to look at tackling the issue of INNS in the river 
and the riverside land to 500m inland.

The PLA addressed the specific questions set 
out by the Commission in its invitation for 
submissions of written evidence.

1  What can be done to enhance the 
biodiversity of a densely populated 
urban environment such as 
Hammersmith and Fulham?

The Environment Agency has produced a 
guidance document “Estuary Edges” (currently 
being rewritten and updated but the existing 
version is available here -

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.
gov.uk/20140328084622/http:/www.
environmentagency.gov.uk/business/
sectors/100745.aspx). This outlines the types of 
enhancements that can be made to hard riverside 
structures. Working to prevent the establishment 
of invasive non-native species (INNS) will also 
enhance biodiversity in the Borough. Preventing 
litter can also improve visual appearance and 
prevent harm to animals, birds and fish. The 
Cleaner Thames campaign, coordinated by the 
PLA and supported by organisations like Tideway, 
Thames 21 and the Thames Litter Forum, has 
been working since September 2015 to raise 
awareness of the impacts of litter on the river 
environment and to encourage people to bin 
their litter. Appropriate design of lighting to 
prevent light spill can encourage wildlife by taking 
away the disorientating effects of artificial light.

2 What examples of good practice can 
we draw upon? 

In terms of examples of creating green 
corridors and involving local people the PLA 
submission suggested looking at at the following 
organisations:

• The Thames Landscape Strategy as a good 
example of volunteers and community 
involvement in landscape improvement 
schemes.

• Thames21, a volunteer organisation whose 
aim is to protect and restore the river and 
its tributaries. Their activities enhance 
biodiversity by litter-picking, removal of 
INNS and encouraging Sustainable Urban 
Drainage (SUDS).

• The Zoological Society of London (ZSL) 
undertake fish surveys in the river and 
utilise volunteer Citizen Scientists. They 
have developed a guidance document for Page 41



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 33

developers “Conservation of Tidal Thames 
Fish through the Planning Process”.

• BugLife have developed a Beelines project 
which aims to create networks of flower 
rich pathways and their project may offer 
some suitable examples of land-based 
green corridors.

3 How best can we monitor 
improvements?

The PLA is currently considering this question to 
quantify the progress towards the aims of the 
Thames Vision. Ideas that have been suggested 
include:

• Regular surveying for “flagship” species 
which can represent a wider range 
of species or a particular biodiversity 
community.

• Aerial surveys looking at “green” coverage 
could give a guide to loss or gain of 
vegetative cover.

• Number of river frontage developments 
that have been designed in accordance with 
“Estuary Edges”.

• Control of INNS

4 Where should responsibility lie for 
delivering such improvements?

Responsibility for delivering such improvements 
ultimately lies with the landowner. Although 
the PLA owns much of the tidal River Thames 
and its tidal tributaries, the river edges are the 
responsibility of the riparian landowner. There is 
opportunity to influence developers and those 
doing repairs and refurbishment during the 
planning process by responding to planning 
consultations.

Terrapin Bright Green

This organisation submitted three publications on 
Biophilic design that might be best considered as 
part of the litreature review.

Dr Daniela Perrotti, Lecturer in 
Environmental Design, University of 
Reading

Dr Perrotti alerted the Commission to efforts to 
promote biodiversity in France by local authorities 
and communities in the last few years which 
has resulted in a newly designed Biodiversity 
Law (and a new French Agency for Biodiversity) 
adopted last year which has the great value 
of including the compensation of ecological 
damage for example in the civil code: http://
www.gouvernement.fr/en/reclaiming-biodiversity-
nature-and-landscapes.

Woodland Trust 

1.  What can be done to enhance the 
biodiversity of a densely populated 
urban environment such as 
Hammersmith & Fulham? 

Firstly, the existing biodiversity resource must be 
protected, both through robust local planning 
policies and by correct management. There are 
also threats to trees from pests (such as oak 
processionary moth) and diseases (such as acute 
oak decline), which have to be addressed. 

One of the best ways to enhance biodiversity is 
by planting more trees (particularly native broad-
leaved trees where possible). As well as improving 
biodiversity, there is now a wealth of evidence 
on the many other benefits of increasing tree 
canopy cover. These include improving: physical 
and mental health; air quality; water quality; 
water management (reducing flooding); shading; 
cooling through evapo-transpiration. Most of 
these issues are summarised, along with the 
appropriate references for the background 
research and evidence, in the Trust’s publication 
Residential Development and Trees.

2.  What examples of good practice can 
we draw upon?

The Woodland Trust submission referred the 
Commission to guidance on incorporation of 
trees on its website (www.woodlandtrust.org.

Page 42



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201734

uk/publications/). The submission made specific 
reference to Trees or Turf? which shows it is often 
cheaper to maintain newly planted woodland 
than amenity grassland. 

The Trees and Design Action Group (TDAG), 
noted in London Plan Policy 7.21, has recently 
published a practical guide for the retention and 
planting of trees in urban situations, including 
new development: Trees in the Hard Landscape 
(TDAG, September 2014). 

The Royal Borough of Greenwich produced a 
draft “Greener Greenwich Strategy; The Council’s 
response to a changing climate” in 2016 which 
included a chapter on the natural environment. 
This had plans for improvement, and noted the 
role of local communities.

3.  How best can we monitor 
improvements? 

The Woodland Trust recommend regular 
biodiversity surveys and state that the basic 
habitat survey should be the responsibility of the 
Borough, but local volunteers should be able 
to supplement this – the response suggesed 
contacting the London Wildlife Trust and London 
Natural History Society. With regards to canopy 
cover, there is emerging technology that can 
record this remotely, such as Bluesky, or Lidar. The 
London Tree Officers Association can advise on 
the most appropriate tools.

4.  Where should responsibility lie for 
delivering such improvements? 

The Trust response states that the Borough is 
in the best position to at least lead on delivery, 
and set a positive examplebut notes that part of 
this would be through having robust planning 
policies that protect what is in the Borough and 
promote development by others that enhances 
biodiversity. 

The submission suggests that a Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) on biodiversity could 
be drafted that could include reference to the 
Access to Nature principle in London Plan Policy 
7.19. Section C of this policy states: “Development 
Proposals should: …b prioritise assisting in 
achieving targets in biodiversity action plans 

(BAPs), set out in Table 7.3, and/or improving 
access to nature in areas deficient in accessible 
wildlife sites”. Section F directs Borough LDFs to 
“identify areas deficient in accessible wildlife sites 
and seek opportunities to address them”. 

The All London Green Grid SPG (GLA, 2012) 
has further detail on mapping and addressing 
areas of deficiency, but the London Plan 
Implementation Report Improving Londoners’ 
Access to Nature (GLA, February 2008) is the 
definitive document on how areas of deficiency 
could be addressed. 

The Trust has produced the Woodland Access 
Standard, now adopted by the Forestry 
Commission, and has information at a London 
Borough level of where deficiencies in access 
to woodland lie, which should help inform the 
creation of new wooded open spaces as part of 
any approach to reducing areas of deficiency. 

On the topic of individual tree planting, Section 
197 of the 1990 Planning Act requires planning 
authorities to include appropriate provision 
for planting of trees when granting planning 
permission: “It shall be the duty of the local 
planning authority— (a) to ensure, whenever it is 
appropriate, that in granting planning permission 
for any development adequate provision is 
made, by the imposition of conditions, for the 
preservation or planting of trees.”

The SPD should address the Access to Nature and 
Woodland Access Standards mentioned above, 
perhaps suggesting that “Any development 
within areas deficient in accessible wildlife sites 
and accessible woodland must contribute to 
addressing those deficiencies.” 

Zoological Society of London

The Zoological Society of London submitted 
its Guidance Document: “Conservation of Tidal 
Thames Fish through the Planning Process”, 
which might also be considered as part of the 
literature review.

Page 43



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 35

Extract from the 
Hammersmith Society’s 
Response to the Old Oak 
and Park Royal Development 
Corporation Consultation.
Wormwood Scrubs

Existing Character: The status (and legal 
protection) as Metropolitan Open Space should 
be specifically mentioned and emphasized in 
this section and in the Vision. As noted earlier, 
we have read and fully support the submission 
‘Response by the Friends of Wormwood Scrubs’.

Most local groups and residents wish to see 
Wormwood Scrubs preserved much as it is. 
Its natural wild character is much enjoyed and 
urbanisation should be resisted. “Potential 
sensitive improvements” (4.163) should be viewed 
with caution. The sustainability of visitor numbers 
should be taken into account with any open 
space. Wormwood Scrubs will receive much 
greater visitor numbers in the future from new 
residents and workers in the OPDC area and 
priority should be given to preserving its informal 
character rather than increasing hard-surface 
walking and cycling routes or attracting visitors 
from further afield.

Wormwood Scrubs must not be allowed to be 
assumed as provision of open space by either 
OPDC or developers, as a substitute for adequate 
on site provision. It also should not be used as a 
construction site.

Pedestrian Access: We, together with most other 
groups, have objected most strongly to the Green 
Cross concept shown on earlier strategic maps 
in the original Plan. (Eg. Figures 8 and 10: P.19 
and 25) with a large south facing arrow across 
Wormwood Scrubs from the HS2/Elizabeth 
Line Crossrail station. This potential pedestrian 
route has been removed from most of the latest 
maps but is still shown on Figure 3.8 –Proposed 
Connections and Figure 4.52 – Wormwood 
Scrubs Place. There is no logic to implying a major 
pedestrian flow in this location. We note that on 

other maps, including the transport assessment 
maps, this desire line is shown to the east with 
a route on or parallel to Scrubs Lane connecting 
with White City. This route should be relocated to 
the east and related to the canal bridge indicated 
south of Hythe Road station – This would also 
provide a logical connection down the east side 
of Wormwood Scrubs to Wood Lane and White 
City.

However there would be an opportunity for the 
canal towpath to be linked with the Scrubs by 
adding a green corridor between the two near 
the eastern edge of the OPDC area and this could 
even be a continuation southwards of the most 
eastern of the northsouth routes that are planned 
for crossing the canal.

11.

Supporting text WS8 identifies “new and 
enhanced access” “from Old Oak Common 
Station and surrounds”. The location of the Local 
Nature Reserve in Wormwood Scrubs makes 
direct access from the station inappropriate and 
potentially damaging, therefore, neither justified 
nor effective.

Additionally, rail passengers are unlikely to need 
direct access to the Scrubs – their immediate 
concern will be to access Crossrail or their home/
work. We support the comments of the Friends 
of Wormwood Scrubs on this point. There is no 
evidence base for such an access point so its 
provision is neither justified nor effective.

The previous draft referred to “retaining 
Wormwood Scrubs as a public open space 
that is more wild than tamed”. This description 
of the Scrubs should be integral to informing any 
intervention or “enhancement” to the Scrubs and 
should be retained in the Plan supporting text. 
We have seen no evidence to justify its removal.

P12 and supporting text has moved to 
an emphasis on “improvements” and 
“enhancements” to the Scrubs. This suggests 
a developing policy of a highly “managed” 
parkland, at odds with the character of 
Wormwood Scrubs as recognised in the previous 
draft, and for which there is no justification. 
The comments of the Friends of Wormwood 

Appendix D

Page 44



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201736

Scrubs demonstrate how there is no regulatory 
justification for such an approach.

The effects of light from multiple tall towers 
will be detrimental to amenity in surrounding 
areas, and particularly to wildlife and amenity on 
Wormwood Scrubs. This section should address 
policies to limit light pollution in regard to 
Wormwood Scrubs. As one resident explained, it 
is one of the few places in London where you can 
see the stars and the night sky.

Views to and from Wormwood Scrubs: 
Views to and from Wormwood Scrubs should 
ensure that the character of the Metropolitan 
Open Space is not overwhelmed by tall buildings, 
Views such as Fig28:p61 (in the Original Draft) 
would permanently damage the character of 
Wormwood Scrubs. Tall buildings must be set 
well back from the perimeter. We have repeated 
this concern to no avail in our responses to recent 
planning applications for Mitre Yard and North 
Kensington Gate.

Only drainage to pitch areas should be 
considered. It is important to ensure that 
sustainable drainage measures in the 
development area do not adversely affect 
Wormwood Scrubs.

Page 45



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 37

Analysis of Survey Returns
Total respondents: 251

About you 

Age groups

 Number % 2016 H&F 
population* 
% 

18 - 29 8 3.2% 20.1%

30 - 49 83 33.1% 35.3%

50 - 64 77 30.7% 14.5%

65 - 84 65 25.9% 9.2%

85+ 1 0.4% 1.3%

Not Answered 4 1.6% -

Prefer not to 
say

6 2.4% -

Under 18 7 2.8% 19.6%

Grand Total 251 100.0%

Mid-2016 ONS population estimate 

The 251 respondents mainly comprised of the 
30-49, 50-64 and 65-84 age groups. However, 
compared to the latest population estimates the 
proportion of 50-64 and 65-84 age groups in 
the survey are overrepresented:

The 50-64 age group made up 30.7% of survey 
respondents but there were only 14.5% of them 
in the total population. 

The 65-84 age group made up 25.9% of survey 
respondents but there were only 9.2% of them in 
the total population. 

The respondents from the younger age groups 
(under 18s and 18-29) were under represented in 
the survey compared to their proportions in the 
population. 

This should be considered when interpreting 
these survey results. 

Do you have access to a garden?

Number %

No 44 18%

Yes 201 80%

Not Answered 6 2%

Grand Total 251 100%

Postcode analysis

The 251 respondents covered 244 known 
postcodes, 233 of which were within the 
Borough. The table shows the respondents by 
postcode district. The map below provides the 
location of the respondents’ postcodes within/
outside the Borough colour coded by the 
postcode districts.

Postcode district Respondents in  
each area

Hammersmith  
& Fulham

233

SW6 70

W12 71

W14 28

W3 2

W6 62

Unknown 2

Outside H&F 11

Total 246

Appendix E

Page 46



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201738

Page 47



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 39

Questionnaire 
Q1. Improving biodiversity is... 

Number %

Very important 233 93%

Quite important 13 5%

Not important 2 1%

Not Answered 3 1%

Grand Total 251 100%

Why improving biodiversity is important? The most frequent themes from comments are: 

Nature, environment, health, wildlife, life, air, quality, trees

Q2.  What do you think ideally needs to happen to make the environment in 
Hammersmith and Fulham more wildlife-friendly? (Analysis by number of 
respondents) 

More green spaces in new developments, with 
green roofs and walls, and landscaping and 

planting for wildlife 
Value 87%

Plant more native and wildlife-friendly trees and 
hedgerows, in streets and all green spaces in the 

borough
Value 86%

Priority given to bee and butterfly-friendly planting 
in all green spaces e.g. wildflowers, herbs, 

lavender, rosemary, honeysuckle, dog rose...
Value 80%

More areas of long grass in our parks and 
gardens and spaces for natural composting where 

piles of autumn leaves can provide habitat for 
invertebrates( i.e. minibeasts)

Value 75%

More sensitive pruning, one in three street 
trees at a time, and allow shrubs and hedges to 
grow enough to provide continuous habitat and 

corridors for wildlife 

Value 67%

No new housing extensions into gardens allowed 
unless accompanied by green roofs or walls, or 

other new greening for wildlife
Value 53%

Other Value 18%

Page 48



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201740

Q3.  Have you been able to support biodiversity or make your environment more wildlife 
friendly – in your garden or on your allotment or balcony or in a local green space?

Numbers Planting native 
trees and shrubs

Planting pollinator 
friendly plants

Untidy patch/ 
creating bug hotel

Stop using spray 
on plants, weeds 
and insects

No 51 33 64 45

Yes 174 199 154 173

Don’t know 11 6 7 16

Grand Total 236 238 225 234

Percentages Planting native 
trees and shrubs

Planting pollinator 
friendly plants

Untidy patch/ 
creating bug hotel

Stop using spray 
on plants, weeds 
and insects

No 22% 14% 28% 19%

Yes 74% 84% 68% 74%

Don’t know 5% 3% 3% 7%

Grand Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

Q4. What are the key factors stopping you from taking action to make your environment 
wildlife-friendly? 

Other  Value 35%

More trees or hedges might be inconvenient in some way  Value 20%

Planning policies and other government regulations  Value 16%

You believe you need to use spray on plants, weeds and insects 
for successfuI growing  Value 14%

Concern about your family’s or your neighbours’ attitudes 
towards an “untidy” garden  Value 11%

Needing space to park your car  Value 3%

The most frequent responses from the ‘other’ category:

Small (garden)/ lack of space, Council’s policies/ lack of assistance, lack of time, lack of money, 
neighbour’s interference

Page 49



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 41

Q5. Have you noticed a decline in wildlife in your local area?

Numbers Fewer birds Fewer bats Fewer 
butterflies

Fewer bees Other

No 91 22 28 58 11

Yes 102 61 148 119 34

Don’t know 45 146 62 58 32

Grand Total 238 229 238 235 77

Percentages Fewer birds Fewer bats Fewer 
butterflies

Fewer bees Other

No 38% 10% 12% 25% 14%

Yes 43% 27% 62% 51% 44%

Don’t know 19% 64% 26% 25% 42%

Grand Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

The most frequent responses from the ‘other’ category:

No hedgehogs, more/less foxes, less frogs, more squirrels, more parakeets

Some consequences of the decline:

Different bird species, changing bee population

Q6.  Do you envisage any possible conflicts of interest if more measures were taken in 
H&F to provide habitats and corridors for wildlife?

Numbers %

No 130 52%

Yes 66 26%

Don’t know 42 17%

Not Answered 13 5%

Grand Total 251 100%

Explanation of possible conflicts 
• Conflict with developers not wanting spaces to be used for wildlife as this will impact revenue. 
• Less housing will be built when there is a need for more
• Complaints about untidy areas
• Trees- beneficial for air pollution/biodiversity etc but can cause residents problems ie, fruit falling 

on cars, blocking sunlight from windows etc
• The Borough should be educated of the benefits of habitats to help reduce these conflicts 

Page 50



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201742

Q7. GREEN SPACES are of great benefit to people of all ages, and there is evidence of all 
potential benefits listed below. (Analysis by number of respondents)

provide pleasant places for walking Value 96%

improve our health and wellbeing Value 95%

provide habitats for plants and wildlife Value 94%

provide areas with cleaner air to breathe Value 91%

provide vital play wace for children and young 
people Value 89%

give us the opportunity to observe and learn more 
about nature Value 87%

Value 78%

Value 67%

Value 61%

Value 37%

Q8. If you have seen any of the following in Hammersmith and Fulham or close by, please 
say WHEN and WHERE.

HEDGEHOGS

Hedgehogs - When? No. of sightings %

Everyday 0 0.0%

Within the last few weeks 0 0.0%

Around a month ago 0 0.0%

Within the last 6 months 0 0.0%

Within the last 6 - 12 months 1 1.8%

Within the last 2 years 1 1.8%

Within the last 5 years 2 3.6%

Around 10 years ago or longer 20 36.4%

Cannot remember/ don’t know 0 0.0%

Other period 2 3.6%

Never seen 29 52.7%

Total responses 55 100.0%

Page 51



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 43

Hedgehogs - Where? No. of sightings %

Garden 10 50.0%

Ravenscourt Park/Glasshouses at Ravenscourt Park 4 20.0%

Other 2 10.0%

Local Road 2 10.0%

Home car park 1 5.0%

Station 1 5.0%

Total answered 20 100.0%

JAYS

Jays - When? No. of sightings %

Everyday 5 5.7%

Within the last few weeks 8 9.1%

Around a month ago 7 8.0%

Within the last 6 months 4 4.5%

Within the last 6 - 12 months 14 15.9%

Within the last 2 years 16 18.2%

Within the last 5 years 3 3.4%

Around 10 years ago or longer 3 3.4%

Cannot remember/ don’t know 2 2.3%

Other period 17 19.3%

Never seen 9 10.2%

Total answered 88 100.0%

Jays - Where? No. of sightings %

Garden 50 56.8%

Other 10 11.4%

Ravenscourt Park 6 6.8%

Local Road 5 5.7%

Cemetery 4 4.5%

Wormholt Park 3 3.4%

Wormwood Scrubs 3 3.4%

Allotments 2 2.3%

Wormholt Park 1 1.1%
Page 52



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201744

Jays - Where? No. of sightings %

London Wetland Centre 1 1.1%

Norman Park, SW6 1 1.1%

Richmond park 1 1.1%

Sooth Park 1 1.1%

Total answered 88 100.0%

HOUSE SPARROWS

House Sparrows - When? No. of sightings %

Everyday 3 3.6%

Within the last few weeks 17 20.5%

Around a month ago 4 4.8%

Within the last 6 months 3 3.6%

Within the last 6 - 12 months 11 13.3%

Within the last 2 years 3 3.6%

Within the last 5 years 1 1.2%

Around 10 years ago or longer 2 2.4%

Cannot remember/ don’t know 3 3.6%

Other period 24 28.9%

Never seen 12 14.5%

Total answered 83 100.0%

House Sparrows - Where? No. of sightings %

Garden 41 47.1%

Other 21 24.1%

Local Road 9 10.3%

Ravenscourt Park 3 3.4%

Wormholt Park 3 3.4%

Cemetery 2 2.3%

Wormwood Scrubs 2 2.3%

Eel Brook Common 1 1.1%

Frank Banfield Park 1 1.1%

Marcus Garvey park 1 1.1%

Near Brook Green and Phoenix Farm 1 1.1%
Page 53



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 45

House Sparrows - Where? No. of sightings %

South Park, street 1 1.1%

St Marks Park, RBKC 1 1.1%

Total answered 87 100.0%

THRUSHES

Thrushes- When? No. of sightings %

Everyday 0 0.0%

Within the last few weeks 5 6.9%

Around a month ago 3 4.2%

Within the last 6 months 3 4.2%

Within the last 6 - 12 months 9 12.5%

Within the last 2 years 10 13.9%

Within the last 5 years 3 4.2%

Around 10 years ago or longer 1 1.4%

Cannot remember/ don’t know 3 4.2%

Other period 18 25.0%

Never seen 17 23.6%

Total answered 72 100.0%

Thrushes - Where? No. of sightings %

Garden 17 30.9%

Other 9 16.4%

Cemetery 4 7.3%

Local Road 4 7.3%

Wormwood Scrubs 4 7.3%

Ravenscourt park 3 5.5%

Wormholt Park 3 5.5%

Bishops Park 2 3.6%

South Park 2 3.6%

Allotments 1 1.8%

Cathnor Park 1 1.8%

Eel Brook Common 1 1.8%

In Brook Green 1 1.8%
Page 54



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 201746

Thrushes - Where? No. of sightings %

in South Park 1 1.8%

On the river by Black Lion / in Ravenscourt Park 1 1.8%

South Park and Eel Brook Common 1 1.8%

Total answered 55 100.0%

BATS

Bats- When? No. of sightings %

Everyday 0 0.0%

Within the last few weeks 2 3.3%

Around a month ago 2 3.3%

Within the last 6 months 2 3.3%

Within the last 6 - 12 months 12 20.0%

Within the last 2 years 5 8.3%

Within the last 5 years 7 11.7%

Around 10 years ago or longer 1 1.7%

Cannot remember/ don’t know 2 3.3%

Other period 7 11.7%

Never seen 20 33.3%

Total answered 60 100.0%

Bats- Where? No. of sightings %

Garden 21 47.7%

Other 12 27.3%

Wormwood Scrubs 3 6.8%

Barnes Wetland Centre 2 4.5%

Cemetery 1 2.3%

Ravenscourt Park 1 2.3%

Local Road 1 2.3%

South Park 1 2.3%

W12 park 1 2.3%

Wendell Park 1 2.3%

Total answered 44 100.0%

Page 55



Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
October 2017 47

FROGS OR TOADS

Frogs or toads- When? No. of sightings %

Everyday 0 0.0%

Within the last few weeks 7 8.4%

Around a month ago 5 6.0%

Within the last 6 months 2 2.4%

Within the last 6 - 12 months 14 16.9%

Within the last 2 years 9 10.8%

Within the last 5 years 2 2.4%

Around 10 years ago or longer 0 0.0%

Cannot remember/ don’t know 1 1.2%

Other period 29 34.9%

Never seen 14 16.9%

Total answered 83 100.0%

Frogs or toads- Where? No. of sightings %

Garden/ garden pond 44 61.1%

Allotments 10 13.9%

Other 6 8.3%

Ravenscourt park/ pond/ nature garden 5 6.9%

Barnes Wetland Centre 3 4.2%

Glasshouses, Ravenscourt Park 1 1.4%

Godolphin park 1 1.4%

Holland Park 1 1.4%

Local Road 1 1.4%

Total answered 72 100.0%

The main location in which these animals were 
seen were mostly in people’s gardens. Jays were 
also spotted in a number of the Borough’s parks, 
and house sparrows were also seen in hedges 
beside local roads. The majority of these animals 
were last seen between 6-12 months and within 
2 years, except for hedgehogs seen around 10 
years ago or longer and house sparrows which 
were mainly spotted within the last few weeks. 

Page 56



©
 d

es
ig

ne
d 

an
d 

pr
od

uc
ed

 b
y 

H
am

m
er

sm
it

h 
&

 F
ul

ha
m

 C
ou

nc
il.

 0
20

 8
75

3 
17

6
4.

 
Pr

in
te

d 
by

 H
am

m
er

pr
in

t.
 T

el
: 0

20
 8

75
3 

22
35

. 2
01

7.
 2

60
.7

9.

Page 57



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT AND 
RESIDENTS SERVICES POLICY & 
ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
20 November 2017 

 

 

HELICOPTER NOISE ISSUES  
 

Report of the Lead Director for Regeneration, Planning & Housing Services  
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For review and comment 
Key Decision: No 
 

Consultation: Corporate Safety and Residential Operations 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Jo Rowlands, Regeneration, Planning & Housing 
Services Lead Director 
 

Report Author: Paul Baker, Lead 
Environmental Policy Officer 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3431 
paul.baker@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. The report outlines the main reasons why helicopter noise is an issue for 

some parts of the borough, explains the controls that are in place to help 
minimise the impacts of helicopter movements across H&F and also provides 
information on the actions the council can take to help deal with this issue. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. That the committee notes the impacts of helicopter noise for the borough and 
the activities of the council to date; 
 

2.2. That the committee recommends additional measures or actions that the 
council should take. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58

Agenda Item 5

mailto:paul.baker@lbhf.gov.uk


3. HELICOPTER NOISE ISSUES IN H&F 
 

3.1. Helicopters generate noise (often defined as “unwanted sound”) which has 
different characteristics from that of other transport noise sources and is often 
regarded as being more intrusive. In part this is because of the ‘pulsing’ noise 
created by the main rotor blades which tend to be more annoying than 
constant noises and the frequencies of the noises, especially from the smaller 
tail rotors, which are higher and more noticeable. Helicopters can also be very 
loud – with some creating noise levels similar to those of passenger jets at 
take-off.  
 

3.2. Helicopter noise can have negative impacts on the quality of life for some 
people and the affected communities are not just those that live in close 
proximity to the London Heliport but also those that are affected by helicopters 
passing overhead, especially if this becomes a regular event. Impacts of noise 
include annoyance, interference with everyday activities (conversation, 
reading etc), stress, sleep disturbance and mental health impacts. Little 
research has been done on the specific impacts of helicopter noise although 
more work has been done on assessing aircraft noise impacts on health, and 
the impacts are likely to be similar.  
 

3.3. According to the data collected and published by the Civil Aviation Authority 
on their website, there are fewer helicopters flying over London in recent 
years than there were 10 years ago. However, helicopters continue to cause 
noise impacts across much of London, but for Hammersmith & Fulham there 
are a number of reasons why some residents experience higher levels of 
impacts than others, as outlined below.  
 
Proximity of the London Heliport 
 

3.4. The heliport is located on the south side of the River Thames in Battersea 
directly opposite Fulham riverside as shown in Figure 1 in the Appendix. 
Residential properties in this part of H&F are about 250m from the heliport. 

3.5. Normal operating hours for arrivals and departures run from 7:30am to 
7:30pm Mondays to Fridays, with slightly shorter hours at weekends and bank 
holidays (8:00am to 6:00pm). However, extended operating hours from 
0:700am to 11:00pm are possible by prior arrangement. Helicopters are 
audible as they land at and depart the heliport. Although helicopters are 
required to fly over the River Thames as much as possible when using the 
heliport, helicopters are likely to be flying over H&F on their way to/from the 
heliport. In recent years, the heliport has seen an increase in sightseeing tours 
which start and end their flights at the heliport. This could be increasing noise 
impacts as it increases movements, albeit, within the limits that are in place.   
 
Recent Increases in Flights 

 
3.6 According to CAA figures there were just over 22,000 helicopter flights 

London in 2016. This is an increase of just over 3,000 since 2012, but less 
than the number recorded for the previous years for which the CAA provides 
data on their website (2007-2011). 

Page 59



 
Use of Designated Helicopter Routes 
 

3.7 Airspace over large parts of London, including H&F is controlled and 
helicopters flying in London are subject to Air Traffic Control clearance. As 
shown in Figure 2 in the Appendix, there are a number of designated 
helicopter routes in this airspace where helicopters can be directed. The main 
designated route through central London follows the River Thames (Route 
H4) along the whole of the Fulham riverside area and then continues along 
the Thames, through Hammersmith as Route H10. Two other key routes, H3 
and H7 intersect H4.  

 
3.8 These routes were originally selected to provide maximum safety by avoiding 

flying over built up areas as much as possible. However, use of these routes 
brings helicopters into close proximity to residential areas along the river as 
these locations have seen considerable development in recent years, often 
with industrial/commercial land uses being redeveloped for housing. Use of 
designated routes appears to be reducing as the number of single engine 
helicopters falls compared to those with twin engines. 
 
Use of Direct Routes 
 

3.9 Single-engine helicopters are usually required to fly along the designated 
routes. However, twin engine helicopters can be provided with clearance by 
air Traffic Control to use more direct routes through London’s controlled 
airspace. This means that residents that do not live near the heliport or the 
main designated helicopter routes, can also be subject to noise from 
helicopters overhead. Use of direct routes has been increasing over time, 
meaning that noise impacts could be spreading and there is local concern that 
these direct routes become ‘informal’ routes in some areas like the designated 
routes, increasing noise impacts. 
 
Flight Altitudes 
 

3.10 Except with the written permission of the CAA, an aircraft flying over a 
congested area of a city town or settlement is not permitted to fly below a 
height of 1,000 feet above the highest fixed obstacle within a horizontal radius 
of 600 metres of the aircraft. As well as helicopters in H&F airspace, there are 
also aircraft, most often these are flights making their final landing approach 
to Heathrow. These typically pass over the southern part of the borough at 
around 3,000 to 2,500 feet as they descend. The presence of a constant flow 
of Heathrow bound planes (c.600 a day) means that helicopters are unlikely to 
fly much higher than the minimum 1,000 feet minimum as they need to ensure 
separation from Heathrow traffic overhead.  
 
Airspace Restrictions 
 

3.11 Occasionally, extra airspace restrictions are implemented in London that 
impact on helicopter activity over H&F. An example of this is when tall cranes 
are erected on large construction sites. These can be 300 feet (91.4m) or 

Page 60



taller and present a potential obstacle to helicopters. These are notifiable to 
the CAA and the heliport. Pilots are made aware of these obstructions and the 
avoidance area around it (typically a radius of 1 nautical mile). In the summer, 
a tall crane in RBK&C was erected as shown in Figure 3 in the Appendix 
which impacted on helicopter movements from July to September, causing 
them to fly over areas not usually impacted. This can be very noticeable for 
residents and the causes are not immediately obvious. A temporary airspace 
restriction was also put in place at the time of the Grenfell Tower fire and 
remained in place for several weeks.  
 
Police, Emergency Services and Military Helicopters 
 

3.12 The Metropolitan Police Air Support Unit and the Helicopter Emergency 
Medical Services (HEMS) helicopters are subject to special requirements 
associated with the nature of the tasks they are performing. Therefore, Police 
and HEMS helicopters may need to operate at lower altitudes or hold over 
specific locations. Hovering can create prolonged periods of disturbance, but 
is sometimes required by the Police to support officers on the ground to 
search for suspects etc. The Air Ambulance may need to land close to 
residential areas to attend to emergencies. Military helicopters are often 
sighted flying along the Thames River route and as these are larger they are 
noisier, such as the twin engine and double rotor Chinook.  
 
HELICOPTER NOISE CONTROLS  

  
3.13 Over time, helicopter designs have integrated measures to reduce noise 

impacts. These include measures to reduce blade and rotor noise, increase 
the rate at which helicopters can climb and reducing cruising speed 
requirements. The EU Clean Sky programme continues to research new 
technologies aimed at reducing noise impacts for aircraft, including 
helicopters. However, it is difficult to assess how quickly new technologies are 
adopted or the level of benefit they provide under operational conditions.  

 
3.14 There are additional measures in place, as outlined below, that aim to 

minimise noise impacts of helicopter use. 
 
The “Rules of the Air” Regulations 
 

3.15 Aircraft and helicopter noise impacts are exempt from the noise nuisance 
controls contained in the Environmental Protection Act 1990 that are used by 
the council to deal with other noise issues. Generally, so long as the Rules of 
the Air Regulations (in effect a ‘Highway Code’ for airspace) which have 
recently been largely replaced by the Standardised European Rules of the Air 
are complied with then aircraft are deemed to be flying in a safe and 
acceptable manner. Some of the rules relate to controlling low flying and 
landing/take off manoeuvres which help to reduce noise impacts. 

 
3.16 Additionally, within controlled airspace, such as central London, including 

H&F, helicopters need air traffic control clearance to fly and obey any 
instructions given to them by air traffic controllers.  

Page 61



 
3.17 Pilots navigate mostly by reference to ground features (such was the 

Thames). In the past, the use of the main H4 designated route through 
London, flying along the Thames was considered to be a way to avoid the 
most built up and residential areas, helping to minimise noise impacts, but this 
is now not the case. 
 
London Heliport Controls 

 
3.18 The London Heliport has planning permission for a maximum of 12,000 

commercial helicopter movements per year, although there are exemptions 
for police, military and emergency services, so in any given year there could 
be more than 12,000 movements. There is a maximum limit of 80 movements 
a day although this can be raised to 160 on 5 days of the year, which 
correspond with busy sporting events such as the British Grand Prix.   

 
3.19 There is also a noise limit in place which means that helicopters not able to 

meet the noise standard of 81dB(A) at a distance of 150m from take-off 
position are restricted to a maximum of 1,500 movements a year.  

 
3.20 The other main aspect to noise controls at the heliport is the manner in which 

landing and departing helicopters are required to follow routes into and out of 
the heliport that fly over the centre of the river and at the highest possible safe 
altitude whilst making an approach or departure. 

 
3.21 Residents can also complain to the heliport if they have concerns in terms of 

noise or safety issues and if the helicopter in question is using the heliport (as 
opposed to one that is just over-flying the borough), then the heliport can 
investigate and take appropriate action.  
 
The Role of the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) 

 
3.22 The CAA are the aviation regulator in the UK who ensure that the aviation 

industry meets their safety obligations and also manages its environmental 
impacts.  

 
3.23 Noise complaints can be made to the CAA about helicopter activity, however 

their main concern in terms of investigating helicopters is whether or not the 
pilot has done something that creates a public safety concern. If they are 
following the Rules of the Air and have air traffic control clearance to be in 
controlled airspace, the CAA will not be able to take action. They will take 
enforcement action and prosecute helicopter pilots where necessary, 
however, the complaints procedure is generally felt to be difficult to use. 

 
3.24 The CAA collect and publish data on helicopter movements in London 

controlled airspace. Although this provides some useful data on the overall 
total number of movements, it is not possible to determine borough level 
information such as specific flights over H&F or routes used etc.  

 
 

Page 62



ACTIONS AVAILABLE TO THE COUNCIL 
 
Investigating Noise Complaints 
 

3.25 As highlighted above, the council cannot take direct action against noise 
impacts caused by helicopters as there is no legal route for the council to do 
this. However, if residents complain to the council, officers will advise of the 
potential routes to take action (via the CAA and/or the heliport) and also 
investigate directly where possible and provide feedback.  

 
Lobbying for Tighter Controls on Helicopters 

 
3.26 During 2017, the council has responded the Government’s consultation on 

development of a national Aviation Strategy where we highlighted the 
omission of helicopter noise issues, arguing that the next round of consultation 
should include this topic.  

 
3.27 We also commented on the Mayor of London’s draft Transport Strategy where 

we noted a similar lack of reference to the London heliport or use of 
helicopters in London. Our response stated that there was concern that 
helicopter movements and their impacts are increasing and are not adequately 
regulated in London. We suggested an additional policy should be included in 
the Transport Strategy to cover the following points: 
 

 The Mayor should work with the Heliport and boroughs to identify action 
that can be taken to reduce the impacts of helicopter movements across 
London.  
 

 The Mayor should work with other relevant stakeholders to raise the 
environmental performance standards of helicopters. 
 

 The Mayor should consider seeking powers to limit the overall number of 
helicopter movements in London’s airspace in order to manage their 
environmental impacts, particularly in relation to noise.  

 
3.28 The Mayor of London’s draft Environment Strategy does refer to helicopter 

noise issues which we welcomed but suggested that further commitments 
were required in line with the comments we submitted on the draft Transport 
Strategy. 

 
3.29 In the past (in 2006), the council responded to the London Assembly’s review 

of helicopter noise issues which made a number of recommendations. We do 
not consider that the key recommendation in the Assembly’s report for the 
Department for Transport, which was for a full review of the impact of 
helicopter movements and noise in London, with the aim of putting in place a 
series of policy responses designed to mitigate the impacts, was ever 
implemented. 
 
Heliport Consultative Group 

 

Page 63



3.30 In 2006, the London Heliport Consultative Group was established with the 
purpose of acting as an effective means of consultation in relation to the 
London Heliport. The Group is comprised of councillors and resident 
representatives from Wandsworth, RBKC and H&F as well as heliport 
management and users. The H&F representatives raise issues of importance 
for local residents and have recently helped galvanise more proactive actions, 
including the commissioning of a noise study and questionnaire.   
 

3.31 The main aim of the H&F representatives is to work with the Consultative 
Group to lobby the Mayor of London and central Government to put the 
regime governing helicopter flights over London onto the same footing as 
aircraft flights over London. This would include: 
 

 Establishing flightpaths and a regime for consulting on changes to them.    
One specific aspect of helicopter routes H&F wants to pursue is route 
dispersal and respite, in order words for the Heliport and operators to be 
obliged to adopt a range of routes so that no particular area or areas 
experience all flights overhead.  

 

 Clearer and more accessible information to be published by the Heliport  
on a range of matters such as on movements overhead in real time and 
complaint procedures and the outcome of complaints. 

 
3.33 Once the noise study and questionnaire results have been published, these 

will be used to assess whether or not the terms of the Heliport’s planning 
permission are being adhered to, and to seek a formal declaration from 
Wandsworth Council that no further permission will be given for more flights 
than the currently allowed 12,000. 
 
The Heliport Noise Study 

 
3.31 During 2017, a noise study has been carried out around the heliport by South 

Bank University, funded by H&F, RBKC and Wandsworth boroughs. As well 
as measuring noise levels, the study has included a questionnaire for 
completion by residents in the 3 boroughs on helicopter noise issues. 
 

3.32 The Heliport consultative committee provided a list of volunteers which was 
used to select the dwellings used in the monitoring. Monitoring was 
undertaken over the spring/summer of 2017 to establish baseline noise levels 
for the residents both internally and externally. Measurements were taken 
during heliport operating hours: 0700-2300. Long terms measurements were 
taken at four locations in three boroughs and these have been assessed with 
reference to the Professional Planning Guidance: Planning and Noise, 
published in May 2017 and to British Standard 8233:2014 Guidance on Sound 
Insulation and Noise Reduction for Buildings. The full report is expected to be 
published in November. 
 

 
4. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

Page 64



4.1 None. 
 
 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
 
Appendix 
 
Figure 1 – Location of London Heliport 
Figure 2 – Designated Helicopter Routes 
Figure 3 – Airspace Restriction impacting H&F 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 
 
 

Appendix 
 
Figure 1 – Location of London Heliport  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Heliport 

Page 66



 
 
 
Figure 2 – Designated Helicopter Routes 
 
 

Page 67



 
 
Figure 3 – Airspace Restriction impacting H&F 
 
 

Page 68



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT AND 
RESIDENTS SERVICES 

POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 
 

20 November 2017 
 

 

LONDON TRADING STANDARDS WEEK 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Residents 
Services – Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For information 
Key Decision: No 
 

Consultation: 
None – this report is for information 
 

Wards Affected:  
All 
 

Accountable Director: Nicholas Austin, Director for Environmental Health 
 

Report Author: 
Valerie Simpson, Bi-Borough Head of 
Environmental Health (Licensing and 
Trading Standards) 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3905 
valerie.simpson@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report provides an overview of the Trading Standards activities carried 

out during London Trading Standards week and outlines the aims of the week, 
what the Council did during the week and how effective the week was in 
achieving its aims.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. That the Trading Standards activities carried out during London Trading 

Standards week are noted by the committee and that the meeting provide 
comments and/or feedback as it sees fit. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 70

Agenda Item 6

mailto:valerie.simpson@lbhf.gov.uk


 
3. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

 
London Trading Standards Week  

 
3.1. London Trading Standards Week, took place between Monday 25 September 

and Friday 29 September 2017 and the theme was ‘Protecting Consumers; 
Safeguarding Businesses’. 
 

3.2. London Trading Standards (LTS) is a membership organisation that 
represents and co-ordinates work on behalf the 33 Local Authority Trading 
Standards Services across London. They maintain a website at 
www.londontradingstandards.org.uk.   
 

3.3. The aim of LTS week was to promote and raise awareness about the wide 
range of work carried out by Trading Standards Services locally and to 
highlight the following priorities for London: 
 

DAY OF THE WEEK THEME DESIRED OUTCOMES 

Day 1 Monday 25 
September 

Underage sales 
of knives 

To help prevent people being 
killed through knife crime 

Day 2 Tuesday 26 
September 

Lettings 
agencies 

To stop private tenants being 
ripped off by rogue landlords 

Day 3 Wednesday 27 
September 

Scams and 
Doorstep Sales 

To help protect the vulnerable 
from fraudsters 

Day 4 Thursday 28 
September 

Support for 
Businesses 

To help businesses to thrive and 
grow 

Day 5 Friday 29 
September 

Product Safety To help prevent people being 
killed by unsafe domestic goods 

 
3.4. A large part of the campaign was the publicity and several press releases 

were sent out leading up to and throughout the course of the week.  
 

3.5. The council’s communications team were engaged from the start and were 
provided with a press pack which contained embargoed press releases and 
suggested tweets.  

 
Activity on Day 1 - Underage sales of knives 
 

3.6. In preparation for this theme, the Trading Standards team developed a 
campaign, with police input, aimed at retailers of knives and strong acid 
products of the sort that could be used as a weapon. The main campaign 
messages were that:  

 

 both types of product should be removed from open display, to make it 
easier to control supply and harder to steal; and 

 retailers should consider a voluntary prohibition on selling acids to anyone 
under the age of 21. 

 

Page 71

http://www.londontradingstandards.org.uk/


3.7. As part of the campaign, advice and guidance was given, free training was 
offered to the businesses and posters were developed to help businesses to 
notify their staff and customers. 
 

3.8. Trading Standards Officers and the Police visited retailers of knives and 
strong acids, which were targeted at high priority knives sellers i.e. those 
deemed most likely to sell to a child. 

  
3.9. The visits were planned to coincide with dates for the Police’s Operation 

Sceptre – a Met campaign to combat knife crime and included: 
 

 a mixture of ‘Challenge 25’ test purchase visits using someone just over 
the minimum age of 18, to see if they were challenged about their age;  

 an introduction to the knives and strong acid campaign;  

 an audit of the businesses’ existing procedures; and  

 underage test purchases were attempted at those premises that sold to 
the overage purchaser without requiring proof of age.  

 
3.10. Appendices 1-4 include; (1) the Retailers' letter to introduce the campaign, (2) 

the Customer notice and posters, (3) the Knives guidance and (4) Strong 
Acids and Ammonia guidance. 

 
3.11. The person in charge was strongly advised to move knives and the strongest 

acids (e.g. drain cleaners) behind the counter / away from open display, to 
prevent thefts or the products being used as weapons on the premises.  All 
businesses welcomed the advice that they received. 
 

3.12. For the ‘Challenge 25’ test purchases, different volunteers were used and the 
results varied considerably, but 12 sales out of 17 were made. The 
businesses that sold without requiring proof of age were then used for test 
purchases, using an underage volunteer for those that declined to book the 
free training. 
 

3.13. The free 90 minutes training session was focussed on avoiding underage 
sales (both when serving and when managing staff), the safe storage of 
knives and strong acids and on minimising confrontation. Businesses that 
attended received a certificate of attendance. 
 

3.14. Six businesses attended the training, four who had failed the ‘Challenge 25’ 
test purchases (three of whom have since passed) and two who didn’t. The 
feedback received from attendees was that it was ‘Very Useful’ (‘Reasonably 
Useful’ Slightly Useful’ and ‘Not Useful’ being the other options). 

 
3.15. After London Trading Standards week, officers made follow up visits to 

reinforce the advice, encourage sign-up to training and to assess the changes 
made and found that there had been some improvement. There were 22 
‘Challenge 25’ test purchases, resulting in 15 sales. 13 of the businesses that 
‘failed’ the ‘Challenge 25’ test purchases were tested again with a child 
volunteer and no sales were made. 

 

Page 72



3.16. The guidance and other materials will be sent by post to the lower priority 
businesses, over the next few months.  

 
3.17. Our work on knives and acid demonstrates the council’s ongoing commitment 

to help reduce knife and gang crime and sharing service delivery with the 
police. 

 
Activity on Day 2 – Lettings Agencies 
 

3.18. It is a legal requirement for all lettings agents and property management 
companies to join one of three Government approved redress schemes. They 
must also display a comprehensive list of fees, penalties and charges on their 
website and on their premises. 
 

3.19. The requirement to join a redress scheme means that tenants and landlords 
in the private rented sector and leaseholders and freeholders dealing with 
property managers in the residential sector can complain to an independent 
person about the service they have received. Ultimately these requirements 
will help with identifying possible rogue agents and property managers and 
provide better standards for private renters and improve tenant satisfaction. 
 

3.20. As part of London Trading Standards Week officers checked business 
websites and sent ‘Notices of Intent’ to three businesses to fine them £5,000 
each for not displaying fees on their website. They were given 28 days to 
respond and make representations to us. Officers are now reviewing these 
cases to either confirm, amend or withdraw the fine. The businesses were in 
the following wards: Askew, Shepherd’s Bush Green and Fulham Reach. 

 
Activity on Day 3 – Scams and Doorstep Sales 
 

3.21. Officers held a Fraud, Scam & Digital Safety Awareness Event in the Town 
Hall, in support of LTS Week and gave a presentation about the Friends 
Against Scams campaign. 
 

3.22. Friends Against Scams is a National Trading Standards initiative, which aims 
to protect and prevent people from becoming victims of scams by raising 
awareness about scams and those who fall victim to them.  
 

3.23. The event was planned in conjunction with the Police, Barclays Bank and Age 
UK, who sent out invites, within the branch network. Hammersmith BID also 
advertised the event to all their members and on Twitter.  
 

3.24. The response and feedback that we received was very positive. One resident 
said that a comment about never feeling bad about being a victim was really 
poignant to her.  
 

3.25. Due to the success of the event, there are plans to work together again in the 
future to continue to support and help our residents. 
 

Page 73

https://www.friendsagainstscams.org.uk/


3.26. On the actual scams and doorstep sales themed day, the Deputy Leader and 
the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Residents Services met 
with a representative from the National Trading Standards Scams Team to 
help promote and raise awareness about the Friends Against Scams 
campaign and their SCAMbassador status. SCAMbassadors are MPs / senior 
officials who will use their influence to raise the issue of scams at a local,  
regional and national level. A photograph was taken with promotional banners 
in the Town Hall and tweeted the next day.  
 
Activity on Day 4 – Support for Businesses 
 

3.27. The first of a series of regular training sessions for retailers of age-restricted 
products took place during London Trading Standards week. See paragraphs 
3.13 and 3.14 above for details of the business support activity. 
 

3.28. This is an alternative delivery model to the traditional interventions used to 
help businesses comply with the law. By making this training and available 
and easily accessible we have found a more efficient way of working. This 
change in culture has received positive feedback and a high level of business 
satisfaction and the subsequent test purchase results were excellent i.e. no 
sales.  
 

3.29. Whilst we have worked with many large businesses in the borough including; 
Disney, Car Giant, L’Oréal, we were not able to obtain a quote from any of the 
businesses that we have a relationship with to showcase the added value and 
support that they get from the Trading Standards team. This is largely due to 
the short timescales for response and the holiday period and so is something 
that we are keen to pursue and improve over the next six months. 

 
Activity on Day 5 – Product Safety 

 
3.30. Visits were carried out to retailers of second hand electrical goods in the 

weeks leading up to London Trading Standards week, to publicise the results 
as part of a pan-London safety campaign. 
 

3.31. Officers focussed on retailers of white goods and businesses that had not 
been visited before.  
 

3.32. There were three visits in total: one premises had lamps and heaters on 
display that hadn't been checked and had a few old plugs. Although they said 
that they cut the plugs off but officers advised that they need to do this before 
displaying the items. They will be sent an advice letter after a follow up visit. 
One new business was compliant and the other premises was compliant but 
will be sent a product recall advice letter, as they were the only one selling 
white goods. 

 
 
 
 

Page 74



4. ANALYSIS OF THE SUCCESS OF LONDON TRADING STANDARDS 
WEEK  
 

4.1. H&F has shown strong leadership throughout this campaign by initially 
identifying the local priorities that formed the basis of the five themes for the 
week.  
 

4.2. The collaboration with other Trading Standards services across London 
resulted in a very cohesive campaign, which made best use of officer 
expertise and resources. 
 

4.3. Other external partners and stakeholders were also key and included:  
 

 the Chartered Trading Standards Institute’s press team and their media 
contacts, who provided support in dealing with media queries; 

 the contribution and support from the LTS lead officers for each theme; 

 the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime for the knife press release; 

 the National Approved Letting Scheme (NALS) and coverage in the 
lettings industry press; and  

 Lynn Faulds Wood, celebrity consumer champion, as an LTS Ambassador 
who had invaluable media contacts. 

 
4.4. In terms of the publicity received London Trading Standards has been viewed 

as a resounding success for a first-year campaign and is likely to be repeated 
next year. 
 

4.5. LTS secured coverage in a number of national media outlets as well as 
support for the #LTSweek on Twitter. A schedule showing media coverage is 
attached with this report, as Appendix 5.  
 

4.6. The knife crime and acid attack work was particularly popular with the media 
and attracted articles in the Evening Standard and Metro newspapers. 
However, no press coverage (other than borough websites) was received for 
the scams and doorstep crime, business and product safety press releases. 
 

4.7. The campaign has highlighted the need for media training and social media 
training in particular and the key role that local authority communications 
teams can play in getting key service messages out to the public. 

 
5. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1. The Council, when making decisions in relation to any of its functions, must 

comply with its public-sector equality duty as set out in s149 of the Equality 
Act 2010 (the Act).  
 

5.2. The work activities during LTS Week had low relevance in relation to its 
impact on the areas under the statutory duties contained in the equalities 
impact assessment for the Trading Standards service, but contributes towards 
the corporate priorities of the council, set out in the H&F Business Plan 
2017/18.   

Page 75



 
6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1. There are no direct legal implications associated with this report. Any indirect 

legal implications, arising from any enforcement activities are managed as 
part of the team’s internal management and monitoring of legal processes. 
 

6.2. Implications verified by: Tasnim Shawkat, Director for Law, 020 8753 2700. 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1. There are no direct financial implications associated with this report. This 

campaign programme was delivered as part of the Trading Standards 
Business Plan, using existing budgets and staffing resource. Any new 
activities arising as a result of this work will be managed within existing 
budgets. 
 

7.2. Implications completed by: Kellie Gooch – Head of Finance – Environmental 
Services, telephone 020 8753 2203. 

 
8. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

 
8.1. The motivation for LTS Week was to raise awareness about the work that 

Trading Standards carry out and to act as a conduit for businesses to 
approach the Service for advice and guidance. 
   

8.2. Where businesses have not obeyed the law, enforcement action and other 
interventions have or will be taken, in accordance with our enforcement policy, 
to help businesses comply. 
 

8.3. Experience has shown that publicity about enforcement action can act as a 
deterrent to rogue traders and also informs our residents that this type of 
enforcement activity is happening, leading to a higher level of reporting. 
Collectively, the range of interventions used can help to rule out any unfair 
business advantages.  
 

8.4. More work is needed in the area of business engagement and there are plans 
to work more closely with Economic Development and Town Centre 
Managers to improve the Trading Standards offer of help and support for our 
local businesses. 

 
9. RISK IMPLICATIONS  

 
9.1. The Failure to meet new and existing statutory requirements is specifically 

addressed in the Environmental Health Service Group’s risk register. Controls 
in place to mitigate this risk include training, internal auditing, periodic updates 
of the scheme of delegation and the business planning process. 
 
 
 

Page 76



 
10. BUSINESS INTELLIGENCE IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1. In November 2016, the Trading Standards team were successful in winning a 

contract to manage the regional business intelligence service for all Trading 
Standards services in London. 
 

10.2. The role of business intelligence is becoming increasingly more important in 
our work, to help identify the areas where our resources should be focussed 
to improve our efficiency and effectiveness. 

 
11. HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1. Our work in relation to scams is aimed at assisting members of the public who 

are most at risk of financial abuse. This work will continue, so that we can 
improve the council’s support for our older residents, either through the Older 
People’s Commission and/or the Safeguarding Adults Executive Board, as 
appropriate. 
 

11.2. People who are scammed often experience loneliness, shame and social 
isolation. National statistics from the National Trading Standards Scams Team 
indicate that elderly victims are 2.5 times more likely to die or go into a care 
home than those who are not scammed. Our work in this area can contribute 
to improving life chances and the team are keen to explore the use of joint 
social care and GP hubs to support our vulnerable residents who may be 
suffering from a cognitive impairment such as dementia and/or social 
exclusion. 

 
11.3. The activities surrounding knife and acid attacks were aimed at retailers to act 

as a first line of defence in ensuring that these potentially dangerous articles 
are not sold to minors. 
 

12. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 
NONE 
 

 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 - Retailers' letter to introduce the campaign 
Appendix 2 – Customer notice and posters 
Appendix 3 - Knives guidance 
Appendix 4 - Strong Acids and Ammonia guidance 
Appendix 5 - LTS Week Media Coverage 

Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



APPENDIX 5 

LTS Week – media coverage 

Date Media type  Name of publication 
/organisation 

Link/info Press enquiry – but did 
not result in any coverage 

Knives/Corrosive Substances/Sales of Age Restricted Products   

25/09/2017 Newspaper  Daily Telegraph http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2017/09/25/children-young-
13-sold-knives-shopkeepers-met-trading-standards/  

 

25/09/2017 Newspaper The Metro https://www.google.co.uk/amp/s/www.metro.news/knives-sold-
to-children-of-12-as-deaths-soar/757617/amp/ 

 

25/09/17 Radio LBC  LTS spokesperson did a pre-recorded interview  

25/09/2017 TV   Channel 4 documentary – 
provided them with 
information for their 
research 

25/09/2017 Newspaper The Standard https://www.standard.co.uk/news/london/children-as-young-as-
13-being-sold-knives-and-meat-cleavers-a3642611.html  

 

04/10/2017 Radio BBC Radio London LTS spokesperson interviewed by Vanessa Feltz about 
government’s plans to control ‘acid’ sales 
http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p05g5jd9  (about 10 mins in) 

 

Lettings  

26/09/2017 Property industry 
news (online) 

Lettings Today https://www.lettingagenttoday.co.uk/breaking-
news/2017/9/trading-standards-to-visit-letting-agents-today-as-
new-clampdown-begins  
 

 

26/09/2017 Industry website Property Industry Eye http://www.propertyindustryeye.com/huge-operation-to-crack-
down-on-letting-agents-across-london-today/ 

 

26/09/2017 Industry advice 
website 

Best Advice http://bestadvice.co.uk/london-trading-standards-tackles-rogue-
letting-agents/  

 

26/09/2017 Landlord support 
website 

Property Tribes https://www.propertytribes.com/trading-standards-crack-down-
on-rogue-agents-t-127631175.html  
 

 

26/09/2017 Property licencing 
advice 

London Property Licensing http://www.londonpropertylicensing.co.uk/london-trading-
standards-organise-day-action-target-rogue-letting-agents  

 

26/09/17 Industry website Property Wire https://www.propertywire.com/news/uk/crackdown-rogue-
lettings-agents-london-underway/ 
 

 

P
age 86

http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2017/09/25/children-young-13-sold-knives-shopkeepers-met-trading-standards/
http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2017/09/25/children-young-13-sold-knives-shopkeepers-met-trading-standards/
https://www.google.co.uk/amp/s/www.metro.news/knives-sold-to-children-of-12-as-deaths-soar/757617/amp/
https://www.google.co.uk/amp/s/www.metro.news/knives-sold-to-children-of-12-as-deaths-soar/757617/amp/
https://www.standard.co.uk/news/london/children-as-young-as-13-being-sold-knives-and-meat-cleavers-a3642611.html
https://www.standard.co.uk/news/london/children-as-young-as-13-being-sold-knives-and-meat-cleavers-a3642611.html
http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p05g5jd9
https://www.lettingagenttoday.co.uk/breaking-news/2017/9/trading-standards-to-visit-letting-agents-today-as-new-clampdown-begins
https://www.lettingagenttoday.co.uk/breaking-news/2017/9/trading-standards-to-visit-letting-agents-today-as-new-clampdown-begins
https://www.lettingagenttoday.co.uk/breaking-news/2017/9/trading-standards-to-visit-letting-agents-today-as-new-clampdown-begins
http://www.propertyindustryeye.com/huge-operation-to-crack-down-on-letting-agents-across-london-today/
http://www.propertyindustryeye.com/huge-operation-to-crack-down-on-letting-agents-across-london-today/
http://bestadvice.co.uk/london-trading-standards-tackles-rogue-letting-agents/
http://bestadvice.co.uk/london-trading-standards-tackles-rogue-letting-agents/
https://www.propertytribes.com/trading-standards-crack-down-on-rogue-agents-t-127631175.html
https://www.propertytribes.com/trading-standards-crack-down-on-rogue-agents-t-127631175.html
http://www.londonpropertylicensing.co.uk/london-trading-standards-organise-day-action-target-rogue-letting-agents
http://www.londonpropertylicensing.co.uk/london-trading-standards-organise-day-action-target-rogue-letting-agents
https://www.propertywire.com/news/uk/crackdown-rogue-lettings-agents-london-underway/
https://www.propertywire.com/news/uk/crackdown-rogue-lettings-agents-london-underway/


APPENDIX 5 

 

 

 

FACEBOOK https://www.facebook.com/LondonTradingStandards/ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

25/09/17 Mortgage and 
protection advice 
website 

Mortgage Solutions http://www.mortgagesolutions.co.uk/news/2017/09/25/london-
trading-standards-cracks-rogue-letting-agents/ 

 

 

26/09/17 Industry advice 
website 

Property Reporter http://www.propertyreporter.co.uk/property/london-trading-
standards-cracks-down-on-rogue-letting-agents.html 
 

 

07/10/2017 Radio BBC Radio Ulster – On Your 
Behalf 

LTS spokesperson interviewed by Linda McAuley about lettings  

Scams/Doorstep Crime  

25/09/2017 Newspaper   The Mirror – received a press 
enquiry  

Product safety  

25/09/2017  Kantar media Added to their forward planner Poppy Kirby-Green 
Editorial Assistant (Planning), 
Reputation Intelligence 

LOCAL PUBLICITY  
 

 

29/09/2017 Website Getwestlondon  http://www.getwestlondon.co.uk/news/west-london-news/acid-
attacks-trading-standards-offers-13692720 
 

 

P
age 87

https://www.facebook.com/LondonTradingStandards/
http://www.mortgagesolutions.co.uk/news/2017/09/25/london-trading-standards-cracks-rogue-letting-agents/
http://www.mortgagesolutions.co.uk/news/2017/09/25/london-trading-standards-cracks-rogue-letting-agents/
http://www.propertyreporter.co.uk/property/london-trading-standards-cracks-down-on-rogue-letting-agents.html
http://www.propertyreporter.co.uk/property/london-trading-standards-cracks-down-on-rogue-letting-agents.html
http://www.getwestlondon.co.uk/news/west-london-news/acid-attacks-trading-standards-offers-13692720
http://www.getwestlondon.co.uk/news/west-london-news/acid-attacks-trading-standards-offers-13692720


APPENDIX 5 
 

 

 

INFORMATION SENT BY LONDON  TRADING STANDARDS REGARDING LOCAL LONDON PUBLICITY 

Headline Publication Reach 

Illegal sales Ilford Recorder 6206 

Teenagers still able to buy knives East London Enquirer 60000 

Teenagers still able to buy knives Thurrock Enquirer 23478 

Teenagers still able to buy knives Essex Enquirer 50000 

Trading Standards tackle underage knife sales Southwark London Borough Council (Web) 34596 

Shops sell knives to teens in sting LondonNewsOnline.co.uk (Web) 6792 

Rogue traders: raising the standard Haringey London Borough Council (Web) 1870 

Probe Reveals: Dangerous Knives Illegally Sold To Youngsters Hamodia Jewish Newspaper 10450 

The Chiswick Herald The Chiswick Herald (Web) 133 

London Trading Standards Week in Camden Camden London Borough Council (Web) 24494 

Southwark Trading Standards tackle underage knife sales in disturbing experiment The London Bulletin (Web) 2028 

Switching on to safer electrics Croydon London Borough Council (Web) 11725 

Islington''s new "Scambassador" signs up to highlight dangers of scams The London Bulletin (Web) 2028 

Islington''s new "Scambassador" signs up to highlight dangers of scams Islington London Borough Council (Web) 810 

Offering support to Croydon''s small businesses Croydon London Borough Council (Web) 11725 

Knives 'sold to children of 12' as deaths soar Metro (North West) 105073 

Test knife purchases kickstart week of action Hackney Today 91665 

Turning the heat up on cold callers during London Trading Standards Week Camden London Borough Council (Web) 24494 

Trading Standards to visit letting agents today as new clampdown begins Letting Agent Today (Web) 23456 

Huge operation to crack down on letting agents across London under way today Property Industry Eye (Web) 37147 

London Trading Standards tackles rogue letting agents Best Advice.net (Web) 6853 

Crackdown on rogue lettings agents in London underway Property Wire (Web) 10903 

Trading Standards crack-down on rogue agents Property Tribes (Web) 12278 

London Trading Standards cracks down on rogue letting agents Property Reporter (Web) 6056 

London Trading Standards cracks down on rogue letting agents mortgagesolutions (Web) 6101 

First day of London Trading Standards Week highlights illegal sale of knives Sutton Council (Web) 9298 

Children as young as 13 being sold knives and meat cleavers in London Yahoo! UK and Ireland (Web) 1030766 

Enfield backs London Trading Standards Week Enfield Council (Web) 7373 

P
age 88



 

4 
 

 

P
age 89



Community Safety, Environment and Residents Services PAC Work Programme 2017/18 
 

 

 

28th June 2017 

Courtyard Room, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Parks 

 

Dave Page / 
Ullash Karia 

To talk about the options for the management of the 
borough’s parks. 

20 mph Zones 

 

Nick Boyle To consider the implementation of additional 20mph 
zones in the borough. 

Air Quality Elizabeth Fonseca 
/ Peter Smith / 
Nick Boyle 

To update the committee on progress since the Air 
Quality Commission’s report. 

 

18th September 2017 

Courtyard Room, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Use of Powers under the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act and CCTV 
 
 
 

Janette Mullins / 
Andy Stocker /  
Claire Rai 

To consider the Council’s use of powers under RIPA 
over the past year and to make comment on whether 
the Council’s systems for regulating this use are 
effective and delivering appropriate outcomes. 
To consider the Council’s CCTV network and its 
impact on crime and anti-social behaviour. 
 

Uniform based street services Claire Rai To consider the work of the Council’s Neighbourhood 
Wardens.  

Draft Air Quality Action Plan Consultation 

 
Elisabeth Fonseca To comment on the Council’s draft Air Quality Action 

Plan. 

P
age 90

A
genda Item

 7



Community Safety, Environment and Residents Services PAC Work Programme 2017/18 
 

 

 
 

20th November 2017 

Courtyard Room, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Biodiversity Commission 
 

Peter Smith To consider the report of the biodiversity commission. 
 

Noise from Helicopters Paul Baker 
To consider the Council’s actions to reduce the 
impact of noise nuisance on residents. 
 

Trading Standards Week Valerie Simpson 
To consider the Council’s team’s work on promoting 
trading standards, focussing on the recent trading 
standards week. 

 
 

29th January 2018 

Small Hall, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

The Council’s Budget 
 

Mark Jones To consider the Council’s draft budget for 2018-19. 

Highway Maintenance 

 

Ian Hawthorn 

 

To consider the Highway Maintenance programme 
and the effectiveness of the service. 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 91



Community Safety, Environment and Residents Services PAC Work Programme 2017/18 
 

 

7th March 2018 

Small Hall, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Walking and Cycling – A regional perspective 
 

Will Norman – 
Mayor’s Walking 
and Cycling 
Commissioner 

To hear about the regional vision for improved 
walking and cycling provision. 

Walking and Cycling in Hammersmith and Fulham Richard Duffill / 
Mahmood Siddiqi / 
Ullash Karia / 
Chris Bainbridge 

To consider the Council’s work to promote walking 
and cycling and discuss what more could be done to 
promote sustainable travel. 

 

18th April 2018 

Committee Room 1, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Engine Idling Elisabeth Fonseca To consider the Council’s work to prevent 
unnecessary pollution caused by engine idling. 

Parks Police  
 

Mike Rumble To hear about the work of the Parks Police Service 
and to consider their impact on the security of the 
borough’s parks. 

Electric Vehicle Charging  Richard Hearle To consider the progress programme to install 
Electric Vehicle Charging points across the borough.  

Next Door and Good Gym Geoff Cowart To hear about the Council’s work with Next Door and 
Good Gym to engage local residents in improving 
their communities. 

 
 
 
 

P
age 92


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Report of the Hammersmith & Fulham Biodiversity Commission
	LBHF Biodiversity Report

	5 Helicopter Noise Issues
	6 London Trading Standards Week
	Appendix 1 - Retailers' letter to introduce the campaign
	Appendix 2 – Customer notice and posters
	Appendix 3 - Knives guidance
	Appendix 4 - Strong Acids and Ammonia guidance
	Appendix 5 - LTS Week Media Coverage

	7 Work Programme and Dates of Future Meetings

